## South Dakota State University Open PRAIRIE: Open Public Research Access Institutional Repository and Information Exchange

Theses and Dissertations

2016

# Techno-Economic Feasibility of Distributed Torrefaction Systems Using Corn Stover Feedstock

Evan Almberg South Dakota State University, evan.almberg@jacks.sdstate.edu

Follow this and additional works at: http://openprairie.sdstate.edu/etd Part of the <u>Mechanical Engineering Commons</u>

#### **Recommended** Citation

Almberg, Evan, "Techno-Economic Feasibility of Distributed Torrefaction Systems Using Corn Stover Feedstock" (2016). *Theses and Dissertations*. Paper 1026.

This Thesis - Open Access is brought to you for free and open access by Open PRAIRIE: Open Public Research Access Institutional Repository and Information Exchange. It has been accepted for inclusion in Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Open PRAIRIE: Open Public Research Access Institutional Repository and Information Exchange. For more information, please contact michael.biondo@sdstate.edu.

# TECHNO-ECONOMIC FEASIBILITY OF DISTRIBUTED TORREFACTION SYSTEMS USING CORN STOVER FEEDSTOCK

BY

## EVAN R. ALMBERG

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the

Master of Science

Major in Mechanical Engineering

South Dakota State University

2016

# TECHNO-ECONOMIC FEASIBILITY OF DISTRIBUTED TORREFACTION SYSTEMS USING CORN STOVER FEEDSTOCK

This thesis is approved as creditable and independent investigation by a candidate for the Master of Science in Mechanical Engineering degree and is acceptable for meeting the thesis requirements for this degree. Acceptance of this does not imply that the conclusions reached by the candidate are necessarily the conclusions of the major department.

Stephén Gent, Ph.D.	Date
Thesis Advisor	
Michael Twedt, P.E.	Date

Thesis Advisor

Kurt Bassett, Ph.D., P.E. Date Head, Department of Mechanical Engineering

Kinchel Doerner, Ph.D. Date Dean, Graduate School ii

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

LI	ST OF I	FIGURES	v
LI	ST OF 7	ГАBLES	vi
AF	<b>STRA</b>	СТ	vii
1	1.1 1.2 1.3	Introduction to Study General Introduction Research Objectives Thesis Organization	1 1 6 7
2		Review of Literature	8
	2.1	Historical Overview of Bioenergy Applications	8
	2.2	Current State of Bioenergy	10
	2.2.1	Biochemical	10
	2.2.2	Thermochemical	11
	2.2.3	Power and Heat Generation	13
	2.2.4	Dedicated and Secondary Energy Crops	14
	2.2.5	Scaling Biomass Energy	15
	2.3	Biomass Energy Resources	16
	2.3.1	Agricultural Residue – Corn Stover	16
	2.3.2	Harvesting Techniques	20
	<b>2.4</b>	Bioenergy Conversion	22
	2.4.1	Compustion	24
	2.4.2	Confluction	24
	2.4.3	Pyrolysis	26
	2.4.5	Torrefaction	28
	2.5	Overview of Torrefaction Process	28
	2.5.1	Torrefaction Processing Stages	31
	2.5.2	Process Energy	33
	2.5.3	Degree of Torrefaction: Mass & Energy	37
	2.6	Corn Stover Market Considerations	38
	2.6.1	Agricultural Applications	38
	2.6.2	Cellulosic Biofuels	39
	2.6.3	Biomaterial Products	40
	2.6.4	Solid Biomass Energy Fuels	41
	2.7	Summary of Literature Review	42
3		Techno-Economic Modeling Approach	43
	3.1	Introduction	43
	3.2	Availability of Corn Stover Feedstock	44
	3.2.1	Corn Crop Yields	45
	3.2.2	Corn Stover Availability	48
	3.3	Sustainable Agricultural Management Practices	49
	3.4	Harvesting Methods and Considerations	52
	3.5	Logistical Methods and Considerations	53
	3.6	Torrefaction Biorefining System	54
	3.6.1	Process Overview	54

	3.6.2	System Energy Requirements	55
	3.6.3	Heat Recovery	
	3.6.4	Torrgas Energy Recovery	
	3.7	System Economics	60
	3.7.1	Capital Investment	60
	3.7.2	Harvest and Logistics	60
	3.7.3	Operating and Maintenance	61
	3.7.4	Torrefied Product Market Value	63
	3.7.5	System Feasibility	
1		Economic Analysis of Distributed Terrofaction	68
т	4 1	Introduction	00 69
	4.1	Recoling Case Analysis	00
	4.2	Annual Decoline	
	4.2.1		
	4.2.2	10-Year Baseline	
	4.2.3	Baseline Analysis Summary	75
	4.3	Sensitivity Analysis	76
	4.3.1	Corn Stover Collection	76
	4.3.2	Scaling and Processing Rate	
	4.3.3	Torrgas Energy Recovery and Storage	
	4.3.4	Summary of Sensitivity Analysis	
5		Conclusion and Future Applications	
	5.1	Conclusion	
	5.2	Future Work	
R	eferen	265	88
14			

## LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1: Primary energy consumption by source in the U.S., 2014 [4]
Figure 2: Grain yield as a result of stover management practices on continuous corn
crop rotation [52]
Figure 3: Typical biomass conversion pathways [58]
Figure 4: Simplified torrefaction process heating and cooling stages (modified from
Gerometta 2014 [74])
Figure 5: Process-flow diagram of techno-economic model with unit steps (black),
process input parameter (blue), and economic factor (green) shown
Figure 6: USDA estimated corn product ion (bushels) by county for the 2013 harvest
season [92]
Figure 7: Boxplot representation of average corn yields (bu/ac) on a by state basis,
based on 15-year average corn yields from NASS [97]46
Figure 8: Unit operation of torrefaction stage with vapor (V) and solid (S) products
on mass (lbm) and energy (Btu) bases, given the pre-dried corn stover feed (F) with
mass yields of 75% and energy yields of 85% through torrefaction stage. Note:
losses (e.g., heat, mass, energy) are not accounted for within this approximation58
Figure 9: Annual baseline cost distribution excluding capital cost
Figure 10: Cumulative cash flow 10-year operating period
Figure 11: 10-year baseline cost distribution including capital cost
Figure 12: Profit and payback period based on harvest amount variation from 10%
to 50% under baseline parameters77
Figure 13: Profit and payback period based on processing rate variation from 2-20
tph at 40% corn stover harvest80

LIST	OF	TAB	LES

Table 1: Comparison of CPI and BPI scaling factors [48]       15         Table 2: Stover retention to prevent erosion and support soil nutrification [7, 51, 53]
20
Table 3: Torrefaction temperature ranges from various researchers and feedstock         applications
Table 4: Cellulosic ethanol facilities currently in operation within the United States
[88, 89]
Table 5: Maximum corn yield (bu/ac) by state, based on 15-year average corn yields
from NASS [97]
Table 6: Minimum corn yield (bu/ac) by state, based on 15-year average corn yields
from NASS [97]
Table 7: Average corn yields (bu/ac) by state, based on 15-year average corn yields
from NASS [97]
Table 8: Average stover yield by state based upon state average corn yields from
Table 9. Harvestable stover on a percent basis based on cron rotation and harvest
technique for a 4.3 ton/ac stover vield [7, 51, 53]
Table 10: Stover removal with respect to slope of cropland [7]
Table 11: Example of potential harvestable stover (tons <sub>wet</sub> /ac) given corn yield
(bu/ac) and stover yield (tonswet/ac) based on removal amount (percent basis) to
encompass recommended soil nutrient and erosion retention
Table 12: Harvesting methods and costs for corn stover based upon various
researchers [57, 99, 100]53
Table 13: Logistical methods and costs for stover transport based upon various
researchers and modified to a per ton basis [57, 99, 100]
Table 14: Comparison of torrgas to selected gaseous fuel type
Table 15: Comparison of correfled corn stover pellet HHV (Btu/Ibm) and bulk
Table 16: Darameters set for baseline analysis
Table 10. Falameters set for baseline analysis
70
Table 18: Baseline case annual economic summary
Table 19: Baseline case 10-year operation economic summary
Table 20: Scaling factors used in processing rate analysis
Table 21: Comparison of system fuel requirements and feasibility between torrgas
recovery and storage with baseline parameters82
Table 22: Comparison of torrgas to other fuels on equivalent energy and cost bases

# TECHNO-ECONOMIC FEASIBILITY OF DISTRIBUTED TORREFACTION SYSTEMS USING CORN STOVER FEEDSTOCK

#### **EVAN ALMBERG**

#### 2016

This study investigated the economic feasibility of distributed torrefaction biorefining systems using corn stover feedstock to generate value-added products. Distributed torrefaction systems have the potential to operate on private agricultural enterprises as well as community-scale processing facilities, similar in scale to local grain elevators. Distributed systems will thus, reduce the need for large capital investments for dedicated commercial biorefining facilities and decrease logistical concerns for harvesting and marketing the torrefied corn stover products. In this study, a techno-economic model was developed to analyze the economics of harvesting techniques, logistics, processing requirements, and end product utilization. Results were determined using baseline and sensitivity analyses to determine the effects of varied parameters on the performance of the torrefaction system and the value added products. This study indicated that distributed torrefaction could be economically viable under an array of cases of variable harvest, processing rates, and system sizes. Overall, appealing profits, payback periods, and return on investments were shown to occur.

## **1.1 General Introduction**

A majority of the United States (U.S.) energy consumption comes from fossil fuel resources (e.g., coal, natural gas, and petroleum). In 2014 the United States produced nearly 4,093 billion kilowatt-hours of electricity, of which 67% was derived from fossil fuels [1]. Within the remaining 33%, 7% of power was produced using renewables and 1.7% was generated using biomass [1]. Fossil fuel resources emit higher concentration of  $C0_2$  when compared to bio-based fuels, which absorb CO<sub>2</sub> during their growth cycle, making renewable energy an attractive option to meet emission requirements for power generation facilities and other energy intensive industries. In 2015, the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) put into policy the Clean Power Plan (CPP), which requires reduction of carbon emissions on a statewide basis [2]. In order to meet the requirements put forth by the EPA, which requires that carbon pollution be reduced by 870 million tons by 2030 – 32% below 2005 levels [2] - renewable biomass resources can be used to decrease fossil fuel emissions. Although fossil fuel energy has increased in recent years, there has also been an increase in the renewable energy sector. Renewable energy consumption has increased by nearly 34% since 1980 [3] and accounted for 9.6% of all fuel energy consumed in 2014 [4], as illustrated by Figure 1.



Figure 1: Primary energy consumption by source in the U.S., 2014 [4]

As governmental regulations aim to reduce the reliance on fossil fuel resources, renewable fuel mandates have been developed to subsidize the development of bio-based fuel sources and products. Renewable energy production and consumption is expected to continue increasing, partly in response to the Energy Independence and Security Act of 2007 (EISA 2007) and Renewable Fuel Standard (RFS), which calls for the production of 36 billion gallons per year of biofuels by the year 2022 [5]. Within the RFS, it is stated that 14 billion gallons per year (BGY) of advanced biofuels are to be derived from non-conventional biofuels (e.g., corn starch-based ethanol). Since federal support for ethanol production has declined, including the expiration of non-cellulosic biofuel subsidies in 2011 [6], alternative biomass based energy sources have shown to be sustainable options to meet governmental regulations and energy requirements. At the current date, non-

liquid biomass energy has been primarily focused on the heat generation and biomass densification industries [7], such has wood pelletizing for home heating, although new technologies have emerged to replace petroleum based products [8].

Biomass is an important energy source as it accounts for a majority of renewable energy within the U.S. According to the 2011 Billion-Ton Study Update, biomass renewable energy accounted for 4.6% of the energy usage within the United States, where other renewable energies accounted for 4.8% of the national total [9]. Biomass is also in great abundance within the United States; the National Renewable Energy Laboratory (NREL) determined an estimated amount of 423 million tons of biomass resources are available, with the largest portion of the biomass being agricultural residue [10]. Given its abundance, biomass has potential to be a major market for sustainable energy options in the future.

Agricultural residue is comprised of both plant based (crop residue) and animal based (methane gas, manure) material. The largest contributor of agricultural residue is crop residue, where corn stover residue makes up approximately 70% of agricultural residue based upon the annual harvestable tonnage available [9]. Corn stover is the non-grain portion of the corn plant that consists of the stalks, cobs, leaves, and husks. Corn stover is typically a byproduct of corn kernel harvesting although it accounts for approximately 50% of the mass of the corn plant. There are approximately 56 pounds of shelled corn kernels per bushel of corn and, due to corn stover accounting for nearly half of the plant mass, the amount of corn stover equates to nearly the same weight of stover per bushel [11]. This indicates that a significant amount of crop residue is left in field during the harvesting process, allowing for potential of post-harvest stover collection.

While biomass offers a renewable alternative to energy use, there are concerns associated with its use. Examples of concerns that arise with biomass, specifically corn stover residue, are the low bulk density of the material, its high moisture content, the potential for material degradation, and lower energy content per unit volume. These characteristics are notable when compared to fossil fuel resources like coal and petroleum, both of which have high mass density, energy content, and have resistance to degradation. These issues make the economics for logistics, storage, and processing difficult to be feasible in addition to being highly energy intensive.

Improving the physical and chemical properties of the material are important to increase the usability of biomass as an energy source. Baling corn stover into round or square bale configurations has shown to increase the overall density from approximately 3 lbm/ft<sup>3</sup> [12] to 5-10 lbm/ft<sup>3</sup> [7] depending on bale type. This densification method aids in decreasing the space required to transport the material, lessening logistical concerns. Corn stover can also be compacted into pellets or briquettes, significantly increasing the mass density to approximately 37-44 lbm/ft<sup>3</sup> [13] and further enabling the logistics and applications of corn stover.

In addition to logistical improvements, both physical (density and resistance to degradation) and chemical (energy) properties of biomass have been shown to improve during the torrefaction process [14, 15]. Torrefaction, a thermochemical reaction that occurs at approximately 200 to 300°C, is a process that is used to

upgrade biomass into value-added products or fuel. The effects of torrefaction result in increased energy density, improved hydrophobicity, and enhance the ability for further densification through pelletizing methods [16, 17].

Previous research has been completed on torrefaction of biomass, and to some degree corn stover biomass [18, 19]. While many research objectives focused on temperature and reaction time of the biomass material itself [20, 21], others have focused on the potential applications for torrefied biomass [22-25]. Although torrefaction of biomass can produce value added material and chemical characteristics, scale-up technologies present a challenge for large-scale torrefaction facilities. Some of the issues for scaling from pilot scale to commercial scale include reactor design, uneven heat distribution, and decreasing conversion and energy efficiencies [26]. These issues have prevented biomass torrefaction from gaining a large presence in the energy market, although some pilot-to-commercial scale facilities have become operational with successful processing and upgrading results.

#### **1.2 Research Objectives**

This study hypothesizes that a distributed torrefaction biorefining system could be economically viable, have a favorable payback period, and be an innovative solution to the utilization of readily available biomass resources. Unlike commercial scale applications, the capital investment of the demonstration-scale distributed system could be significantly less, creating a pathway to a novel production market.

The objective of this study is to determine the feasibility of distributed biorefining systems for stand-alone use on private agricultural operations, small commercial facilities (e.g., grain elevator facility), or for implementation in a sideby-side process at a dedicated biorefining site. A techno-economic model was developed to analyze system feasibility by looking at the effects of feedstock availability, harvesting techniques and logistics, processing system requirements, and end product utilization. Results of the analyses were quantified with respect to input costs required to generate torrefied products, potential profit of processed products, the payback period of the torrefaction biorefining system, as well as the energy consumption and recovery.

### **1.3 Thesis Organization**

This thesis is divided into five chapters that cover the background, development, and the results of the study completed at South Dakota State University. The first chapter contains a general background on the topic of bioenergy, reasoning for pursuing the study of the topic, and general outline of the thesis material. Chapter 2 provides a detailed review of literature pertaining to the history of bioenergy, biomass resources and their availability, thermochemical conversion technologies, as well as supplemental information on biorefining and other previous studies completed on biomass energy related topics. Chapter 3 discusses the development of the techno-economic model for this study, including assumptions, reasoning of selected values, and explanation of the process used in determining the outputs. Chapter 4 is comprised of the results of the economic analysis; this contains the baseline case developed and a multi-factored sensitivity analysis. The final chapter includes a summary of the work completed and recommendations for future work on the topic.

### 2.1 Historical Overview of Bioenergy Applications

Bioenergy is not a new technology; humans have used various forms of biomass and biomaterials as fuel well before recorded history. The earliest forms of bioenergy commonly used wood as a fuel source, a source that is still used for heating applications today.

The most commonly noted bioenergy fuel in recent history, ethanol, predated the use of petroleum based fuels before they were discovered in 1859 [27]. As the availability of whale oils, a widely used fuel for lamps and some heating applications, diminished during the mid-1800s, the use of ethanol as a fuel substitute began to increase. During the early 1900s biofuels became increasingly popular, as petroleum refining was not meeting demand within the United States. As the exploration and production of cheaper petroleum derived products increased, biofuel production decreased, primarily within the ethanol sector. This was the case until 1917 when World War I began, which called for the rationing of petroleum products, ultimately driving production of biofuels to increase. Trends similar to this have continued in the 20<sup>th</sup> and 21<sup>st</sup> centuries, usually occurring during major political events, such as World War II, the Arab Oil Embargo of 1974, the 1979 energy crisis, as well as the introduction of renewable fuel mandates in the early 2000's [28].

In addition to the increase in biofuel production during these time periods, a revitalization of biomass energy applications was also apparent. Biomass gasification technologies were present in the mid-1800s, where it was primarily used for lighting, industrial fuel, and for some home cooking applications. Additionally, gasified biomass was also used in the development of synthetic chemicals; this was similar to a process that converted coal to synthetic fuel developed in Germany [29]. During World War I and II, gasification of coal and biomass were used within European countries when petroleum supplies became limited. Small-scale gasification units were built and attached to numerous vehicle types, ranging from cars to busses and even being used for ships and trains.

Within the United States during 1973 and 1974, the Organization of Petroleum Exporting Countries (OPEC) declared an oil embargo against the U.S. and other industrialized nations. The result of the embargo and decreased petroleum availability drove prices from \$3 per barrel to as high as \$12 per barrel [30] in the United States. This issue continued in 1979 during the oil crisis, in which non-OPEC nations reduced their dependence on OPEC based oil when prices increased to nearly \$40 per barrel [31]. As a result of increasing oil prices, governmental initiated research programs were developed to explore alternatives to petroleumbased fuels. For example, biomass energy use, particularly wood fuels, rose from 0.3 quadrillion Btus in 1972 to nearly 1.0 quadrillion Btus by 1984 in an attempt to reduce fossil fuel resources [32]. Since the late 1970s biofuel and bioenergy production has continued to increase in order to reduce the dependence on foreign energy. This movement has largely been in part to governmental mandates, such as the Alternative Motor Fuels Act of 1988, the Clean Air Act of 1990, the Energy Policy Act of 2005, the Renewable Fuel Standard (RFS) of 2005, and more recently, the Energy Independence and Security Act (EISA) of 2007.

Based upon the events of the past 150 years, it can be seen that although fossil fuel resources own a majority of the energy market, in times of political unrest or low energy supply, countries and governments typically revert to bioenergy technologies to stabilize the energy market. Additionally, as interest in renewable technology continues to increase, bioenergy has become more than just alternative to fossil fuels; it has become a staple in energy efficient and cost effective processes.

#### 2.2 Current State of Bioenergy

Bioenergy has been used in many applications throughout history, many of which are still common practice. Some of these technologies, such as fermentation to create alcohols or combustion in order to produce heat, have been scaled up to large facilities to meet demands for bioenergy. Over time, advances in technology have increased the spectrum for biomass and bioenergy production, particularly in the advanced biofuel category where biomasses, such as grasses and crop residue, can now be converted into more readily useable fuels.

#### 2.2.1 Biochemical

Bioenergy produced through means of biochemical processes have become increasingly popular within the renewable fuel market. The most used biochemical conversion type, fermentation, is currently used on a large scale to produce ethanol fuel. As of 2015, there were approximately 195 conventional ethanol facilities operating in the U.S. [33] producing nearly 14.4 billion gallons of ethanol fuel [34]. Cellulosic ethanol, derived from grasses and crop residue, has also increased in production due to the RFS, which mandates production of 14 billion gallons per year of advanced biofuels [5]. Despite the RFS mandate, the EPA ultimately reduced the requirement to 6 million gallons, and as of May 2014, it was further reduced to 0.81 million gallons [35]. This has been largely in part due to the inability to upscale cellulosic ethanol and other advanced biofuel easily; a challenge that has severely hindered the funding and building of advanced facilities.

#### 2.2.2 Thermochemical

The use of thermochemical conversion for energy applications is very diverse as it encompasses pyrolysis, gasification, and torrefaction processes. Pyrolysis is used extensively within the chemical industry in order to upgrade and produce chemical products. Examples of common solid products are charcoal, activated carbon, and bio-char. Common liquid product applications include transforming medium-weight hydrocarbon fuels from oil into lighter products, such as gasoline, as well as converting solid biomass into liquid bio-oils. At the current date, pyrolysis use in the heat and power industry is the only form of biomass pyrolysis that has reached commercial scale. In this case of biomass solid to liquid conversion, the biooils produced are used in either a combustion or gasification process to produce heat and power. Additional biomass pyrolysis applications use the bio-oil product in fractionation process of extraction, fermentation, and hydrogenation to produce fuels, refinery feedstocks, oxygenates, organic acids, and other value added products [36].

Gasification is also used and has more energy-based applications due to the gaseous product being more controllable than solid fuel. Gasification is commonly implemented using coal or biomass as a feedstock to generate syngas for use as a fuel, and depending on the feedstock, the fuel produced can be considered a renewable energy application [37]. One of the most commonly known applications of gasification is within the integrated gasification combined cycle (IGCC) power plant. In this application the gasification of coal, biomass, or waste material is performed where the produced syngas is cleaned and used as fuel within a gas turbine. Here, the combustion exhaust gases and waste gasification heat pass through a heat recovery steam generator (HRSG) and produce steam for additional turbine operation. This process can be used to produce both heat and power, making it an attractive application for energy and power applications. This technology is of special interest for carbon capture and clean coal applications. While this process has merit, the initial capital investment for building IGCC power plants is costly [38] and the gasification process difficult, which has hindered the more rapid implementation of IGCC power plants.

Currently implemented torrefaction processes are typically used for upgrading products as a pre-processing technique. In some instances of biomass torrefaction, which often times uses wood as a feedstock, the primary interest of the torrefaction process is to increase the characteristics of the biomass, such as heating value, grindability, bulk energy density, or the hydrophobic nature [39]. While torrefaction is not currently a commercialized technology within the energy industry [24], it does have potential to be a factor in power generation facilities. An example of torrefaction product applications is in coal-fired power plants, where the torrefied product can be co-fired with coal to introduce a renewable energy product to a pre-existing fossil fuel process [40]. Although this application does have value, further development in the availability, processing, and post-processing must be done before torrefaction can expand to a widespread market. However, demonstration scale torrefaction facilities have been built [41] where woodybiomass is converted into a torrefied and pelletized product. These products have also been co-fired in existing coal-fired power plants, demonstrating similar heating efficiency while reducing carbon emissions.

#### 2.2.3 Power and Heat Generation

The use of biomass for heat generation is an age-old concept that has been used throughout history. Recently, the use of biomass heat and power generation has become increasingly more popular due to the potential for CO<sub>2</sub>-neutral energy applications [42]. At the current date, there are approximately 227 biomass power plant facilities within the U.S. that generate nearly 7,500 MW<sub>e</sub> [43]. While these power plants generate power using biomass, the diversity of feedstock is large, including municipal solid waste, wood waste, corn stover residue, and other grassbased biomass to name a few.

Combined heat and power (CHP), or cogeneration, is a common bioenergy use that is also currently implemented. Biomass CHP is typical in the wood, pulp, and paper-milling industries where waste wood, sawdust, and other woody materials are used to generate steam and electricity for supporting the facility processes itself. A study completed in 2012 by the EIA states that nearly 57.6 Terawatt-hours (TWh) of CHP power was produced using renewable feedstocks, with approximately 35% of the power generated by non-wood biomass [44]. Operations of CHP are typically smaller in scale when compared to dedicated power generation facilities, such as a biomass or coal fired power plant [45], and are often used in industries that require the use of power and steam for processing materials.

#### 2.2.4 Dedicated and Secondary Energy Crops

The argument of "food versus fuel" has been an increasing topic in recent years. Whether general interest or mandates have increased biofuel production, the allocation of some cropland has shifted from producing foodstuffs to biomass for bioenergy applications. The most noted scenario related to this issue is the amount of corn dedicated to ethanol production in recent years. According to the United States Department of Agriculture (USDA), approximately 38% of total corn use in the U.S. was allocated towards ethanol production in the 2014/2015 market year (September 2014 through August 2015) [46]. Alternatives to usage of food crops as bioenergy feedstocks have increased interest in dedicated energy crops, which are non-food crops used solely for bioenergy applications. In many cases these crops grow on land not suitable for conventional food crops, although they may take away from food-based cropland in some cases. A secondary option is the use of secondgeneration biofuel feedstocks, which includes agricultural residues, waste wood, and grasses [47]. Utilization of these byproduct feedstocks allows bioenergy production without taking away from crops allocated for food production.

#### 2.2.5 Scaling Biomass Energy

While there are numerous bioenergy technologies at the current date, scaling from laboratory to commercial sized processes have presented challenges. Unlike traditional chemical processing industries (CPI) the biofuel processing industry (BPI) has seen limited commercial scale applications, leaving little available data to provide rapid scale-up. Another issue with BPI scale-up is the heterogeneity in biomass, which changes significantly between feedstocks. As a result, BPI scaling factors are typically smaller when compared to CPI [48], and in some cases up to an order of magnitude less than CPI (scaling comparisons shown in Table 1) when the feedstock processing rate is considered.

Scaling Factor (Processing Capacity)	Traditional CPI Processes Gas-Liquids	BPI Processes Dry Solids
Lab/Bench	0.001 - 0.1 (1-10 mL/min)	0.01 - 0.1 (1-10 g/hr)
Pilot	1 (1 - 5 L/hr)	1 (1 - 5 kg/hr)
Demonstration	100-1,000 (5-100 bbl/day)	10-100 (1 - 5 m.t./hr)
Commercial	10,000-30,000 (30,000-100,000 bbl/day)	1,000 - 5,000 (200 - 1,000+ m.t./hr)

 Table 1: Comparison of CPI and BPI scaling factors [48]

Issues that arise in BPI scaling include the accumulation of material within the processing system, difficulty in supplying uniform feedstock, and the energy intensive requirements to pre-process and convert biomass. These BPI issues cause decreased process efficiency and may lead to difficulties in maintaining energy positive conversions, leading to sustainability and economic concerns. Another major issue surrounding biomass scaling is the logistical challenge of transporting low-density feedstocks [49]. Whereas solid and liquid fossil fuels are typically dense, raw biomass has a relatively low bulk density, leading to transportation and storage concerns. Currently, roadway transport is the major route for transporting biomass, whereas coal and petroleum products rely on rail transport and pipeline transmission.

#### 2.3 Biomass Energy Resources

Biomass is an important energy source as it accounts for a majority of renewable energy within the United States. According to the 2011 Billion-Ton Study Update, biomass renewable energy accounted for 4.6% of the energy usage within the United States, where other renewable energies accounted for 4.8% of the national total [9]. Biomass is also in great abundance within the United States. The National Renewable Energy Laboratory (NREL) determined an estimated amount of 423 million tons of biomass resources are available [10], where the largest potential source of biomass being agricultural residue [50].

#### 2.3.1 Agricultural Residue – Corn Stover

Agricultural residue can be divided into two main categories; animal based and plant based. While animal waste (manure) can be used as a source of methane gas or combusted, plant-based residue – specifically crop residue – can be used in for multiple purposes ranging from direct biomass combustion to a feedstock for value added upgrading. The largest contributor to the crop residue supply is corn stover residue. Corn stover is the non-grain portion of the corn plant that consists of the stalks, cobs, leaves, and husks, accounting for 70% of agricultural residue of the annual harvestable tonnage available [9]. Corn stover is a byproduct of corn kernel harvesting even though it accounts for approximately 50% of the mass of the corn plant. Being that there is approximately 56 pounds (lbm) of shelled corn kernels per bushel of corn produce, it can be determined that the corn stover residue equates to nearly the same weight on a per bushel basis [11].

Corn stover is a byproduct of the corn harvesting process and is typically applied back onto the cropland where it was grown and either left on the surface or tilled into the soil. In both cases, the chopped corn stover acts as a combatant against soil erosion and aids in returning essential nutrients back into the soil itself; an essential step in the growth cycle for future crops. Stover decomposition delivers significant amounts of phosphorus (P) and potassium (K) back into the soil, which are essential for plant growth. However, it has been shown that sustainable stover removal has advantages to the soil as well, primarily in Northern corn producing regions where the colder climate causes slower decomposition of the plant material [51]. In Northern regions the addition of crop residue to the surface and subsurface also increases the insulating effect on the ground, whereas the removal of excess residue allows the soil to increase in temperature earlier within the growing year. In this case the partial removal of corn stover can allow for earlier planting and the option of planting longer maturity corn crops. In an effort to determine the effects of corn stover removal from fields on future crop yields, the University of Missouri conducted research by comparing multiple methods of corn stover removal and nutrient addition, including row cleaning, nitrogen applications, stalk chopping, and removal by baling half of the on-surface residue [52]. Results of the research, displayed in Figure 2, show that baling and removing the stover residue proved more effective in increasing the grain yield versus other management practices in no-till, corn-corn crop rotations. Although additional effort is associated with baling and removing stover residue, increased yields have the potential to mitigate or eliminate the implemented residue management cost.



Figure 2: Grain yield as a result of stover management practices on continuous corn crop rotation [52]

While the removal of corn stover from fields has shown to have attractive outcomes in terms of future corn crop yields, removal of the corn stover does reduce the amount of nutrients that are returned to the soil through plant decomposition. This can lead to additional costs in nutrient addition that may need to occur in order to adequately supply future crops with nutrients. Being that there is no definitive amount of residue that could (or should) be removed during agricultural management practices, recommendations for the amount of residue removal are based on an array of factors that could affect soil quality and longevity. The primary factors to take into account include the slope of the field for potential runoff, soil composition, typical weather conditions based on the specific region, and agricultural management (harvest, planting, fertilization, etc.) practices. Table 2 shows a range of values for the amount of stover recommended to remain in field to protect soil against wind and water erosion, based upon specific harvesting and planting techniques. Based upon research conducted, it can be seen that there are significant increases in stover availability for corn-corn rotations. It can be approximated that the amount of stover to remain in field varies between 2.3 tons per acre (tons/ac) for corn-corn rotation and upwards of 5.2 tons/ac for cornsoybean rotations [53].

Retention Amount (tons <sub>wet</sub> /ac)	Crop Rotation	Field Manager Technique	ment Ref.
3.4	Corn-Corn	Plow	[53]
2.3	Corn-Corn	No-Till	[53]
5.6	Corn-Soybean	Plow	[53]
3.5	Corn-Soybean	No-Till	[53]
2.3	Corn-Corn	No-Till	[51]
3.5	Corn-Soybean	No-Till	[51]
4.8	Corn-Soybean	Plow	[7]
2.2	Corn-Corn	Plow	[7]
Average	No-Till Retention		ow Retention
<b>Retention Metric</b>	(tons <sub>wet</sub> /ac	c) (to	ons <sub>wet</sub> /acj
Corn-Corn	2.3	2.8	}

5.2

3.5

Table 2: Stover retention to prevent erosion and support soil nutrification [7,51, 53]

#### 2.3.2 Harvesting Techniques

**Corn-Soybean** 

Since corn stover is a byproduct of the corn harvesting process, a majority of it is left on the ground or chopped by the corn head. Upon harvest, corn stover typically contains twice the moisture content (MC) as the corn kernel itself, where corn is often harvested between 15 – 30% MC. Typical moisture contents of the corn stover, based on approximately 15% MC of the corn kernel itself at harvest, are 19% MC, 24% MC, and 33% MC for the cobs, husks, and stalks/leaves, respectively [54]. Additionally, in cases where corn moisture is higher, such as that of being near 23% MC during typical harvesting periods, the stover moisture content is significantly higher than 30% MC. This high moisture content can lead to a multitude of issues, making high moisture stover unsuitable for most harvesting practices [55, 56]. High moisture content requires the aid of field drying to achieve suitable short-term storage moisture content. Although highly wet raw stover is less favorable for longterm storage, it does have uses as silage or bedding for feedlot operations.

The process to gather the stover crop can take as many as four operations depending on the type of harvest technique. While cob collection can be done directly from the combining process, this only allows for collection of approximately 15% of the corn residue [7]. A common process is baling the stover residue (stalks, cobs, leaves, and husks), which can be broken into two main processes – multi-pass and single-pass – both having varying degrees of options. Multi-pass baling is common among farming practices whereas single-pass baling is a newer harvesting development and is not as commonly practiced. Baling operations typically consist of raking the stover (this operation can also be foregone if less stover collection is desired), baling into large square (0.6 tons<sub>wet</sub>/bale) or round bales (0.75 tons<sub>wet</sub>/bale), collecting the baled stover, and transporting to a storage or processing site.

Multi-pass baling begins with disengaging the combine residue spreader so that the stalks, cobs, leaves, and husks are dispensed directly behind the combine rather than spread over a vast area. Depending on the desired amount of collection the stover can be raked or left as is for baling. By raking the stover approximately 50% of the stover can be removed, whereas the non-raking option allows for 25-30% stover removal [7]. Raking involves passing over the crop residue and forming a windrow, similar to that of hay baling, which is then collected by either a round or square baler. During non-raking, a baler is passed of the loose stover residue and collected by similar means.

Single-pass baling involves a large square or round baling system used in conjunction with the combine during the harvest process. This option eliminates dispensing the stover residue to the ground as well as ranking, decreasing the likelihood of rocks, dirt, and other foreign material from entering the bale [57]. Depending on the moisture content of the corn stover, baling of this type may require further air-drying of the bales post-harvest.

There are benefits for selecting either round or large square bales, although collection and transport remains similar for both multi and single-pass baling. Round baling equipment cost is generally lower than that of square baling equipment, though square bales are easier to handle due to their uniform shape. The logistics of the stover crop involves transporting the stover bales to storage or a processing site as well as stacking the product. The uniform size and shape of square bales has another advantage; the bales stack in a denser manner, requiring less space than that of round bales. This holds true for both transport and storage of square bales, which can make it a more efficient option.

### 2.4 Bioenergy Conversion

In order to utilize biomass, forms of chemical conversion technologies can be used to change the properties of the biomass and produce liquid, solid, and gaseous products. The three foremost types of chemical conversion technologies for biomass include biochemical, physicochemical, and thermochemical conversion processes. A diagram showing the three primary pathways is shown in Figure 3. Currently, biochemical (fermentation and anaerobic digestion) and physicochemical (esterification) conversions are the most implemented in liquid biofuel production of ethanol and biodiesel, respectively. In order to generate gaseous and solid energy products from biomass, the use of thermochemical conversion can be used, such as in the case of creating a bio-based charcoal. Whereas physicochemical and biochemical processes require the use of catalysts or microbes to induce reactions, thermochemical conversion relies on the addition of heat. Thermochemical conversions have multiple pathways; pyrolysis, gasification and combustion are the bases for the process, although sub-processes within this, such as torrefaction, are also common.



Figure 3: Typical biomass conversion pathways [58]

#### 2.4.1 Thermochemical Processes

Conversion of biomass by the means of thermochemical conversion can be useful to upgrade solid materials, generate heat and power, as well as produce syngas. Thermochemical reactions can occur at temperatures ranging from 572°F to 1832°F that can produce an array of chemical conversions pathways. Depending on the temperature and oxygen availability in the environment, there are different processes that occur. The most notable of these processes are combustion, gasification, pyrolysis, and torrefaction; each which can be used to convert solid biomass feedstock [59]. Each has specific uses, such as heat generation, upgrading of materials, or capturing off-gasses.

#### 2.4.2 Combustion

Combustion is one of the simplest methods to convert biomass into a useable energy (heat or electricity) with byproducts of charred ash. This method is a widely used thermochemical process, where biomass accounts for nearly 11% of fuels used for combustion [60]. Combustion is an exothermic reaction that results in a notable amount of heat generation that continues as long as material is available and at high enough temperatures [59]. For the process to occur, energy is required in the form of heat to initiate the combustion of the material, which then proceeds to combust using the energy from the material itself. This process can be done in a batch process, such as a wood stove [61], or in a continuous cycle similar to that of a boiler or steam generator application. Combustion is a popular thermochemical pathway as it is the most simple and it can be implemented on a diverse array of biomass feedstocks. One stipulation for using combustion to convert biomass to heat energy is the moisture content of the feedstock. Moisture levels within the biomass must typically be lower than 60% moisture on a wet basis [59, 61] or a reduction in material temperature could occur, ultimately decreasing in combustion efficiency and preventing continuous combustion [61, 62]. Biomass first begins losing moisture during the drying stage of combustion, which occurs around 212°F [63].

Applications of biomass combustion range from traditional uses (e.g., wood burning for home heating or cooking) to industrial applications, such as steam generation in the Rankine cycle for electrical generation [60]. Additionally, CHP applications also utilize biomass as a heating fuel, with excess steam from the turbine generation stages used to provide steam heat for facility heating or process equipment.

#### 2.4.3 Gasification

Gasification is another thermochemical process that can be used to process raw biomass into a usable product by undergoing the processes of dehydration, pyrolysis, combustion, and gasification. The primary product of the gasification process is syngas, or a synthetic gas comprised of mostly hydrogen compounds (H and H<sub>2</sub>), carbon monoxide (CO), carbon dioxide (CO<sub>2</sub>), and other carbon compounds (C<sub>2</sub><sup>+</sup>) [64]. For this thermochemical process to occur, temperatures need to reach levels near 1,292°F to 1,832°F [65, 66] in a limited or oxygen free environment to prevent combustion of the biomass.

Gasification applications can be performed to produce syngas products from a variety of feedstocks, including coal, biomass, and other waste-based sources. The use of gasification has often been employed in integrated gasification combined cycle (IGCC) power plants, where the syngas produced is used as fuel for a gas turbine. By utilizing biomass as a feedstock for gasification in IGCC applications, similar efficiencies as a coal fired power plants can be reached while maintaining the use of renewable energy sources.

As in the case of many bioprocessing technologies, there are drawbacks associated to using biomass in gasification. The most notable of these is the production of a tar-like substance as a byproduct, which may cause issues in the gasification process by inhibiting or blocking flow. Additionally, the net-energy usage of the gasification process has also been called into play as an issue, stating that more energy is consumed than is produced during the gasification process.

#### 2.4.4 Pyrolysis

Pyrolysis is a thermochemical reaction where organic and inorganic materials are thermally decomposed at high temperatures in an inert environment to produce liquid, solid, and gaseous products that can be used as a drop-in fuel or upgraded for further applications. The pyrolysis process can be divided into three categories comprised of slow (conventional), fast, and flash pyrolysis. These categories are determined by temperature and the heating rate of each process. Slow pyrolysis takes place at lower temperatures with temperatures ranging from approximately 662°F up to 932°F, whereas fast pyrolysis occurs at higher temperatures from 662°F to 1202°F. Flash pyrolysis is similar to that of fast, although temperatures are much higher (1430°F to 1880°F). Additionally, slow pyrolysis occurs at rates of 32°F/s to 33.8°F/s, where fast and flash pyrolysis take place during rates of 50°F/s to 212°F/s or higher [67]. During the process, raw materials are thermo-chemically converted into solids, non-condensable gases, and condensable gaseous products (which can later be condensed into bio-oil). As in the case of thermochemical processes, changing the heating rate (°F/s), residence time (s), or other federate parameters can yield different amounts of solid, liquid and gaseous products [68].

The pyrolysis process is more energy intensive and less efficient when compared to other thermochemical processes; however, the products from the process can be upgraded or used more easily than those of other processes (e.g., upgrading pyrolysis bio-oil compared to gasification syngas). The primary product of the pyrolysis process is a liquid bio-oil, which can be more advantageous than gas as it takes less post-processing to make storable or usable, while having an energy density much greater than gas. Often times, the oxygen content of the bio-oil is higher than that of a typical hydrocarbon fuel. In order to upgrade the bio-oil, processes such as hydrodeoxygenation (HDO), or hydrotreating, can be implemented [69]. This upgrading treatment process introduces hydrogen (H) to the bio-oil through thermal heating and mechanical mixing at temperatures near 572°F, which chemically alters the bio-oil to improve the energy content of the fuel.

#### 2.4.5 Torrefaction

Torrefaction is a subcategory of thermochemical processing, as it is a form of mild pyrolysis with heating rates of approximately 122°F/s. The process is similar to other thermochemical processing as it takes place in an oxygen-deprived reaction but it occurs at much lower temperatures (392°F to 572°F) when compared to other pyrolysis processes. The greatest difference between torrefaction and other thermochemical processes is the purpose for which it is being employed [70] – torrefaction targets maximum yields of solid products with gaseous products as a secondary product. In addition to trying to maximize solid product yield, torrefaction also aims at maximizing the energy content of the solid product by using low temperature reactions to remove low energy content volatiles from the feedstock. The torrefied solid product shows significant mass and energy densification when compared to the raw feedstock, making it an attractive option for uses in power generation, CHP and other bio-based applications.

### 2.5 Overview of Torrefaction Process

Torrefaction is a thermochemical process that can be used to convert raw feedstock, either organic or inorganic, into a solid product that has both increased mass and energy density characteristics. These chemical changes in energy and physical changes in mass are attributed to the thermal degradation of the biomass as temperatures increase during the reaction process. The densification of energy and mass occurs in the absence of oxygen and can be done on either a dry or wet basis [71, 72], although increased moisture content of the biomass requires a more
energy intensive process in order to remove moisture from the feedstock. Moisture removal and thermal degradation of the biomass occurs as unbound moisture and volatiles are evaporated, in addition to bound moisture being removed during the drying process. The moisture and volatile removal results in biopolymers (cellulose, hemicellulose, and lignin) being partially decomposed [73] and leaving a dry, hydrophobic, solid material as an end product.

While the basis of the torrefaction process is relatively simplistic, there are many factors that can affect the degree of conversion that occurs during the process. One of the foremost factors affecting the outcome of the torrefied product is the temperature and heating rate at which process occurs. As with pyrolysis, gasification, and other forms of thermochemical conversion, the heating rate (approximately 122°F/s for torrefaction) and temperature range can affect the amount solid, gaseous, and liquid (condensable gases) that is produced during the reaction. In the case of torrefaction, it is important to maximize the amount of solid product, ideally with little to no liquid product being formed during the reaction. While there has been research conducted on torrefaction of corn stover [74, 75] a majority of research has been conducted on woody biomass [24, 76-78] and other biomass feedstocks [21, 79-81]. In many of these research cases the temperature of the torrefaction range was an important factor. A summary of researchers, feedstocks and proposed temperature ranges used for the torrefaction of various biomass resources can be seen in Table 3, with typical torrefaction temperatures extending from 392°F to 572°F.

	Feedstock	Temperature	
Researcher	Туре	Range	Ref.
Arias et al. (2008)	Woody Biomass	428-572°F	[78]
Chen and Kuo (2010)	Bamboo, Willow Coconut Shell, Wood		[79]
Prins (2005)	Woody Biomass	437-572ºF	[82]
Zwart et al. (2006)	n/a - Biomass (Generic)		[83]
Pimchuai et al. (2010)	n/a - Agricultural Residue	116 E720E	[21]
Prins et al. (2006)	Woody Biomass	440-372°r	[77]
Bergman et al. (2005)	Woody Biomass		[24]
Tumuluru et al. (2011)	n/a - Generic	202 E720E	[84]
Rouset et al. (2011)	Bamboo	392-372°Г	[80]
Sadaka and Negi (2009)	Wheat and Straws		[81]

Table 3: Torrefaction temperature ranges from various researchers andfeedstock applications

During the initial stages of the of the torrefaction process, heat is required to begin removal of bound moisture within the material. The drying process demands the greatest input as it takes a large energy input to remove the bound moisture within the stover [85]. It has been shown that the thermal behavior during the torrefaction process shifts from being endothermic at lower temperatures to more exothermic with increasing temperatures [86]. This occurrence can be attributed to the pyrolysis effects of cellulose, which is endothermic in nature, and the degradation of hemicellulose and lignin, which is exothermic [87]. This transition from endothermic to exothermic reactions decreases the energy required to process the biomass feedstock and also creates potential for additional energy savings through heat recovery and pre-heating measures. Another important aspect of torrefying biomass is the size of the feedstock particles. By grinding, milling or pre-processing the biomass into fine particles the overall surface area is increased, ultimately increasing the heat transfer characteristics of the feedstock particle. Additionally, by pre-processing the biomass a more uniform feedstock particle can be created, increasing the potential for uniform torrefaction throughout the process. Some issues do arise by preprocessing the non-torrefied biomass due to the soft, non-brittle characteristics of raw feedstock, which increases the required input energy [70].

# 2.5.1 Torrefaction Processing Stages

The torrefaction process can be done on both continuous and batch scales, and while the continuity of the process may change, the stages in which the biomass is converted is similar. The primary stages that a feedstock will experience during the process can be broken down into heating, drying, transformation of the material on either a chemical or physical basis (torrefaction degradation and densification) and cooling of the product. Temperatures, heating rates, and residence time within each stage control the degree in which the torrefaction occurs. A simplified diagram showing the basis of the torrefaction process is shown in Figure 4.



Figure 4: Simplified torrefaction process heating and cooling stages (modified from Gerometta 2014 [74])

The first stage of the process involves material preparation, which includes chopping, milling, or grinding the biomass into smaller fragments for processing. Once completed, the feedstock is then submitted to a series of drying stages including a pre-heater, a dryer, and a post-dryer. Throughout these stages, the biomass feedstock is raised from ambient temperatures to  $212^{\circ}F(T_{ph})$  in the preheater to initiate moisture evaporation, held at 212°F through the drying zone and ultimately reaching upwards of  $392^{\circ}F(T_{t1})$  in the post-drying zone, where physically bound moisture is removed. Once this temperature is reached torrefaction begins and heat is added to the feedstock until temperatures reach near  $572^{\circ}F$  (T<sub>t</sub>). At this point in the process, condensable vapors are either captured or used for fuel elsewhere (if applicable) and non-condensable vapors (volatiles) are removed or used for heating in other energy intensive process stages (e.g., used as fuel supplementation in the drying stage). Once torrefied, the solid product is cooled from its maximum temperature  $(T_{t2}$  to a temperature suitable for post-processing (T<sub>f</sub>)). During this stage, waste heat from the cooling process can be recovered and used within the preheating stage to reduce energy (fuel) input to the system.

### 2.5.2 Process Energy

Energy input is required in the form of heat to adequately convert the raw feedstock to a charred final product. Pre-heating is the first stage and is the least energy intensive of the heating processes. Here, the temperature increases sensibly at a steady rate of less than  $122^{\circ}F/s$  from ambient (T<sub>0</sub>) conditions up to approximately  $212^{\circ}F$  (T<sub>ph</sub>). In this stage the unbound moisture begins the removal from the biomass while at the same time the temperature of the raw biomass is increased without initiating the effect of drying. Moisture removal during this stage primarily occurs in the constant-rate period of drying where water is entirely unbound and acts as though no solids were present. The energy (heat) required to elevate the biomass temperature and remove unbound moisture is modeled in Equation 1.

$$Q_{ph} = \frac{m_s C_{pw}(212 - T_0)}{h_{uph}}$$
 [Eq. 1]

Where:
$$Q_{ph}$$
 = Energy required for pre-heating the biomass (Btu) $m_s$  = Mass of the raw biomass as received (lbm\_wet basis) $C_{pw}$  = Specific heat of raw biomass (Btu/lbm-°F) $T_0$  = Initial temperature of the as received biomass (°F) $h_{uph}$  = Heat utilization factor in pre-heating process

Drying is the most energy intensive step as moisture bound within the biomass is removed at this point, making high moisture biomass drying highly energy intensive [85]. Throughout this stage the temperature is held constant at 212°F (T<sub>ph</sub>) or higher depending on the resultant temperature from the pre-heating

stage. Throughout this stage the temperature of the biomass does not see a significant increase, although the latent heating load increases throughout the falling-rate period of drying. The total energy (heat) required during the drying stage is shown in Equation 2.

$$Q_d = \frac{LM_f m_s}{h_{ud}}$$
[Eq. 2]

Where:  $Q_d$  = Energy required for drying of the biomass (Btu) L = Latent heat of vaporization of water at 212°F (Btu/lbm)  $M_f$  = Moisture fraction of raw stover  $m_s$  = Mass of the raw biomass as received (lbm)  $h_{ud}$  = Heat utilization factor in dryer

Post-drying is the final drying stage in which the biomass is heated until it reaches the minimum torrefaction temperature of  $392^{\circ}F(T_{pd})$  [85]. Under this temperature, trace amounts of decomposition occur [24] and the moisture physically bound by the stover is removed through sensible heating. It is because of this that the energy requirement for this drying stage is minimal as well [85]. Upon the end of the drying stage, the biomass moisture content is nearly zero, having both unbound and bound moisture removed by this point in the process. The energy (heat) required for this processing stage is modeled by Equation 3.

$$Q_{pd} = \frac{m_s(1 - M_f)C_{pd}(T_{t1} - 212)}{h_{upd}}$$
 [Eq. 3]

Where: $Q_{pd}$  = Energy required to increase biomass to torrefaction<br/>temperature (Btu) $m_s$  = Mass of the raw biomass as received (lbm) $M_f$  = Moisture fraction of raw stover $C_{pd}$  = Specific heat of dried biomass (Btu/lbm-°F) $T_{t1}$  = Minimum torrefaction temperature (°F) $h_{upd}$  = Heat utilization in post-drying process

The most important stage in the process is the torrefaction stage where a majority of the material degradation occurs. This stage occurs once the dried stover reaches the torrefaction temperature  $(T_{t1})$  of 392°F. The energy that is required during this process is dependent on whether the stover is endothermic or exothermic, shown as Xt, which is positive for endothermic and negative for exothermic reactions [85] and determines the amount of heat absorbed during the torrefaction process. Once temperature elevates to approximately 482°F, the torrefied material becomes exothermic and begins releasing heat as the stover breaks down [82], significantly reducing the required energy input for this process stage. During this stage the residence time and temperature are critical in determining the degree of torrefaction that occurs. Final torrefaction temperatures  $(T_{t2})$  during this process reach approximately 572°F. The residence time during this process is measured from the point where the temperature of the biomass reaches 392°F, with any degradation occurring below this temperature assumed to be negligible compared to complete torrefaction [85]. In addition to torrefaction occurring during this stage, both condensable and non-condensable (volatile) vapors are emitted from the degradation of the biomass feedstock. These flue gases can then be recovered for further use in either drying, post-drying, or within the torrefaction stage to alleviate total energy consumption throughout the process. The energy needed for this portion of the torrefaction process is shown in Equation 4.

$$Q_t = H_L + m_s (1 - M_f) X_t$$
 [Eq. 4]

Where:  $Q_t$  = Energy required for torrefaction process (Btu)  $H_L$  = Heat loss to the environment (Btu)  $m_s$  = Mass of the raw biomass as received (lbm)  $M_f$  = Moisture fraction of raw biomass  $X_t$  = Heat absorbed/emitted during torrefaction process depending on endothermic/exothermic reactions (Btu/lbm)

Although the cooling process does not require energy input, heat recovery from this stage can be utilized to exchange heat back into the drying stages. Heat recovery is most effective at this point in the process as the torrefied biomass enters the cooling stage at the peak torrefaction temperature near 572°F. This allows for increased sensible heating during the heat recovery process as the torrefied biomass temperature is heavily reduced to post-processing temperatures (T<sub>f</sub>). When employed, this heat recovery operation can alleviate the energy input of the preheating and drying processes. As a result, this generates a more efficient system, resulting in energy savings as well as creating a more sustainable process. To determine the amount of energy that can be exchanged from the cooling zone to the heating zones, Equation 5 can be used.

$$Q_c = m_s (1 - M_f) M Y_{db} C_{pt} (T_{t2} - T_f)$$
 [Eq. 5]

$$\begin{array}{ll} \mbox{Where:} & Q_c = \mbox{Energy available for heat recovery (Btu)} \\ & m_s = \mbox{Mass of the raw biomass as received (lbm)} \\ & M_f = \mbox{Moisture fraction of raw biomass} \\ & MY_{db} = \mbox{Mass yield of torrefied biomass on a dry basis} \\ & C_{pt} = \mbox{Specific heat of torrefied biomass (Btu/lbm-°F)} \\ & T_{t2} = \mbox{Peak temperature as biomass leaves torrefaction stage (°F)} \\ & T_f = \mbox{Temperature of biomass once cooled to post-processing} \\ & \mbox{temperature (°F)} \end{array}$$

### 2.5.3 Degree of Torrefaction: Mass & Energy

Depending on the temperatures used within the torrefaction range, the degree of torrefaction varies between light, medium, and severe for approximate temperature ranges of 392-464°F, 464-500°F, and 500-572°F, respectively [70]. Consequently, the mass yield can be significantly changed by the degree of torrefaction. Previous research has shown that mass yields can vary from less than 70% up to 90% depending on the temperatures used [20, 45, 74]. Similar to that of mass, energy yields have also been shown to decrease as the degree of torrefaction increases, with yields as high as 95% falling to 80% or lower [20, 45, 74]. This trend results in the most torrefied feedstock having the greatest increase in energy density when compared to the raw feedstock energy density. However, it has been shown that increased degradation of the biomass feedstock during higher degrees of torrefaction may be unsuitable for energy applications [79].

# 2.6 Corn Stover Market Considerations

The uses for corn stover residue are growing in interest and application as the need to meet governmental mandates, increase renewable options, and farm using more sustainable agricultural practices becomes more prevalent. Corn stover can be harvested or grazed for livestock feeding, refined in processes to create solid and liquid biofuels, as well as converted into value added bio-products. Although corn stover is widely available, there are currently few applications for it other than that of agricultural use. Progress has been made to use corn stover as feedstock for cellulosic ethanol [88, 89] but many challenges have risen with this process, and therefore, the market for cellulosic corn stover ethanol has yet to expand. Other uses of corn stover been developed, such as building material and fuel pellets, but as with other corn stover applications the use has yet to become widespread.

### 2.6.1 Agricultural Applications

Corn stover residue has existing presence within the agricultural market while remaining a secondary crop. The main uses of corn stover are non-energy related; typical uses are for soil nutrition and erosion control. The most common non-energy use for corn stover is in the agricultural industry as a means of forage, silage in feedlot production, and as bedding for livestock. As a feed source, stover can be used in conjunction with hay and dried distiller grains (DDGs) as a supplement for an affordable feedstock [90]. As a feed supplement, corn stover can replace 1.2 to 1.3 tons of hay per year for cattle weighing between 1,200 and 1,400 pounds [90]. In the years from 2012 to 2014, the total number of cattle in the United States, including feedlot and range grazing, was estimated to be between 87 and 97 million head with feedlot specific cattle estimated between 12 and 14 million head [91]. Corn production for these years was shown to yield between 10.8 to 14.2 billion bushels of corn, providing upwards of 302 to 397 million tons of corn stover [92]. In the extreme case that each cow consumed the maximum amount of corn stover at 1.3 tons of stover per cow, stover consumption for feedlot supply would require approximately to 32% of the total available stover within the country. However, since feedlot cattle make up a smaller portion of the total cattle amount, the actual consumption amount decreases significantly. Cattle consuming feed directly, either in a feedlot or dairy setting, account for approximately 15% of the total, which ultimately reduces the total corn stover consumption down to nearly 5% of the total available amount. This shows that while corn stover use for livestock feed does reduce the available amount, a significant amount of corn stover remains available for energy industry applications.

### 2.6.2 Cellulosic Biofuels

Cellulosic ethanol is a recently developing energy market for corn stover. Cellulosic ethanol differs from conventional ethanol as it can be developed from a variety of biomass feedstocks rather than being limited to corn or sugars. Ethanol facilities of this nature require large quantities of biomass feedstock delivered by over highway trucking or railway transportation to continuously run the conversion process. In recent years, DuPont, POET-DSM, and Abengoa Energy have each constructed cellulosic ethanol plants in Nevada, IA, Emmetsburg, IA, and Hugoton, KS, respectively. The biomass and stover consumption of each facility, displayed in Table 4, is shown to vary depending on the facility. Additionally, each plant can operate on a variety of feedstocks, although corn stover residue is the most prominent at each of these facilities. Each facility requires more than 285,000 tons of stover or biomass per year to run at full nameplate production rate [88, 89]. The total consumption of corn stover for cellulosic ethanol conversion is approximately 1 million tons per year, which equates to less than 1% of the total stover crop available when compared to the total available amount from studies conducted by NREL [10].

Table 4: Cellulosic ethanol facilities currently in operation within the UnitedStates [88, 89]

Facility Title	Facility Location	Operating Capacity (tons/year)	Purchase Radius (miles)	Ref.
DuPont - Nevada Site Cellulosic Ethanol Facility	Nevada, IA	375,000	30	[88]
POET-DSM Project Liberty	Emmetsburg, IA	285,000	45	[89]
Abengoa Energy - Hugoton Cellulosic Ethanol Facility	Hugoton, KS	300,000	50	[88]

### 2.6.3 Biomaterial Products

An emerging topic of interest about biomass is in biomaterial applications, such as the biomass material construction industry. Biomass has been studied in the past for use in building products, with the most notable being that of wood. In recent years, corn stover has also become a material of interest for use in solid building and insulating materials [93, 94]. As a building material corn stover can be manufactured as particleboard or oriented strand board (OSB) for use in structural applications, flooring, roofing, and sheathing applications. Biomass can also be blown in as a loose insulation, offering a renewable option to insulation typically made of fiberglass or plastic-based material.

#### 2.6.4 Solid Biomass Energy Fuels

Pelletized stover is an emerging market for corn stover byproduct in the energy industry and is already common for fuel woods like sawdust and woodchips [95]. Dried corn stover has a HHV of approximately 7,560 Btu/lbm, which is near that of wood (8,570 Btu/lbm) [96]. Pelletizing offers increased benefits when compared to raw stover, as it is significantly denser than raw, loose corn stover. Pelletized corn stover can also be used in auger systems, hopper bottom semi-truck trailers, and stored in silos without machinery modifications [7]. An upcoming and popular use for pelletized stover is use within coal-fired power plants as a heating fuel source. This is one option that has gained interest recently due to emission regulations, and since corn stover is a renewable product, there is a sense of "carbon neutrality" when using it as a fuel source. Another option for pelletized stover fuel is in residential pellet stover heating applications, where the pelletized corn stover can be sold in commercial retail venues as more traditional wood pellets.

### 2.7 Summary of Literature Review

Biomass energy applications have shown to gain and lose interest throughout history, deepening on the availability of fossil fuel sources. However, by investing in biomass conversion technologies for the future, a market can be further established to make the volatile market of the past a more consistent pathway for biomass energy.

Corn stover is a promising pathway for bioenergy applications and can be used to convert an abundant biomass resource into a value upgraded fuel or material. Corn stover itself is an appealing resource for a variety of reasons, including:

- i. Being the most abundant of crop residues
- ii. Its widespread availability throughout the Central and Eastern regions of the U.S.
- iii. An energy content (HHV) similar to that of wood
- iv. The ability to alleviate emissions in power plant facilities through cofiring and primary combustion

Conversion of corn stover through means of torrefaction is also a favorable upgrading pathway due to the high solid mass yield potential and the relatively low temperatures in which the process occurs. The clean and simple process is also important for the widespread implementation of corn stover torrefaction; high complexity processes and issues of biorefining have shown to make scale-up technology increasingly difficult. By implementing cost-effective processing techniques, the scale-up of corn stover torrefaction could have the ability to generate clean, efficient, and profitable bioenergy solutions.

# 3.1 Introduction

In order to quantify outcomes for utilizing corn stover as a feedstock for torrefaction on a distributed basis, a techno-economic model was developed using Microsoft Excel. The primary basis of the model was to analyze the feasibility of the torrefaction system in regards to payback period by looking at the profitability of the value added torrefied stover product and the necessary input cost considerations required for a system of this type. Prominent factors built into the model included harvesting consideration and techniques, logistical information for transporting the corn stover feedstock, the requirements for the torrefaction processing system, energy for heating the feedstock to the required temperatures, heat and torrgas energy recovery, and lastly, end product utilization. An overall process-flow diagram of the model can be seen in Figure 5.



Figure 5: Process-flow diagram of techno-economic model with unit steps (black), process input parameters (blue), and economic factors (green) shown

# 3.2 Availability of Corn Stover Feedstock

While corn stover is an abundant resource, making up nearly 70% of the available harvestable tonnage [9], there are considerations that should be taken into account before the commercial-scale harvesting of corn stover residue. The availability of corn stover residue is directly related to the yield of field corn and accounts for nearly 50% of the mass of the corn plant. This relationship leads to a greater availability of corn stover feedstock in areas where the greater corn yields occur. Establishing an estimate for corn yields is the first step in determining the potential for stover harvest, which can vary based on a multitude of factors.

# 3.2.1 Corn Crop Yields

To determine an estimate of corn yields, and ultimately the stover yield, historical data based on information from the United States Department of Agriculture (USDA) and the National Agricultural Statistics Service (NASS) was collected. Estimated corn production, displayed in Figure 6, is shown to be the greatest in the upper Midwest states and the Western Great Lakes region, with some counties producing more than 20 million bushels of corn. It can also be seen that there is little to no production in the western mountain states and that some significant production is present in the eastern and southeastern United States.



Figure 6: USDA estimated corn product ion (bushels) by county for the 2013 harvest season [92]

The greatest corn yields occur in the regions of Southern Minnesota and Wisconsin, Eastern South Dakota and Nebraska, Iowa, Northern Missouri, Illinois, and portions of Indiana, Michigan, Kansas, as well as Ohio. Although these locations tend to yield the greatest amount of corn, there can be significant variations in year-to-year yields as well as from region to region, primarily due to growing degree days, weather effects, local soil conditions, and the seasonal planting date of the corn crop itself. The highest corn producing states were evaluated to determine the maximum, minimum, and average corn yields by state, based on 15-year average corn yield data from the USDA and NASS. Average corn yields on a by-state basis are shown in Table 5 and display the maximum corn yields each state produced, Table 6 shows the minimum yields by state, and the average yields for each state are shown in Table 7.



Figure 7: Boxplot representation of average corn yields (bu/ac) on a by state basis, based on 15-year average corn yields from NASS [97]

	Yield			Yield
State	(bu/ac)		State	(bu/ac)
Illinois	200		Ohio	176
Indiana	188		Wisconsin	162
Missouri	186		Michigan	161
Iowa	181		Kansas	155
Nebraska	179		South Dakota	151
Minnesota	177		North Dakota	132
Maximum Avera	ge (bu/ac)	171	-	

Table 5: Maximum corn yield (bu/ac) by state, based on 15-year average corn yields from NASS [97]

Table 6: Minimum corn yield (bu/ac) by state, based on 15-year average corn yields from NASS [97]

State	Yield (bu/ac)	St	tate	Yield (bu/ac)
Iowa	137	Ill	linois	105
Minnesota	130	In	idiana	99
Nebraska	126	Sc	outh Dakota	95
Wisconsin	120	Ka	ansas	95
Michigan	105	Ol	hio	89
North Dakota	105	М	issouri	75
Minimum Averag	ge (bu/ac)	107		

Table 7: Average corn yields (bu/ac) by state, based on 15-year average corn yields from NASS [97]

State	Yield bu/ac)		State	Yield (bu/ac)
Iowa	165		Wisconsin	141
Illinois	161		Michigan	137
Minnesota	158		Missouri	131
Nebraska	156		Kansas	128
Indiana	153		South Dakota	122
Ohio	148		North Dakota	116
<b>Overall Average</b>	(bu/ac)	143	}	

The overall maximum and minimum averages were determined to be 171 bushels per acre (bu/ac) and 107 bu/ac, respectively. The lowest average yield was found to be 116 bu/ac in North Dakota and the highest average yield was 165 bu/ac in Iowa. An overall average based on the entirety of the 12-state and 15-year data was determined and verified by the means of a statistical "t-test" which indicated that the overall yield average was  $143 \pm 3.4$  bu/ac, given a 95% confidence interval.

### 3.2.2 Corn Stover Availability

Since corn stover production has direct correlation to the amount of corn yielded by the land, the amount of stover produced can be determined from the corn yield values. Stover yields range from approximately 3.0 to 4.5 wet tons per ac (ton<sub>wet</sub>/ac) on fields averaging 100 to 150 bushels of corn per acre [98], or 0.03 tons<sub>wet</sub>/bu. This value is also confirmed for comparison as there is approximately 56 pounds of stover per bushel of corn [11], which equates to approximately 0.029 tons<sub>wet</sub>/bu. Based upon this direct correlation of stover-to-corn weight, values for potential corn stover yields can be calculated based on corn yield from the NASS and are shown in Table 8.

State	Stover Yield (tons <sub>wet</sub> /ac)	State	Stover Yield (tons <sub>wet</sub> /ac)
Iowa	4.9	Wisconsin	4.2
Illinois	4.8	Michigan	4.1
Minnesota	4.7	Missouri	3.9
Nebraska	4.7	Kansas	3.8
Indiana	4.6	South Dakota	3.7
Ohio	4.5	North Dakota	3.5
Average Stover Yield (tons <sub>wet</sub> /ac)		4.3	

Table 8: Average stover yield by state based upon state average corn yields from NASS 15-year average [97]

# 3.3 Sustainable Agricultural Management Practices

While it is shown in section 3.2.2 that an average of 4.3 tons<sub>wet</sub>/ac of corn stover could be available, the amount that can be sustainably removed from the field decreases the actual harvestable amount. A portion of the stover should be left within the field to ensure sustainable agricultural practices that aid in protecting and reintroducing nutrients to the soil. The amount of stover recommended to remain in field, as determined from the values within Table 2, can be used to develop a sustainable harvest quota. The projected amount of harvestable stover, shown in Table 9, combines the average available stover per acre with the sustainable crop cover recommendations of Table 2 in a variety of harvesting and tilling practices.

Retention			Field	
Amount		Crop	Management	Harvestable
(tons <sub>wet</sub> /ac)	Ref.	Rotation	Technique	Amount*
3.4	[53]	Corn-Corn	Plow	21%
2.3	[53]	Corn-Corn	No-Till	47%
5.6	[53]	Corn-Soybean	Plow	**
3.5	[53]	Corn-Soybean	No-Till	19%
2.3	[51]	Corn-Corn	No-Till	47%
3.5	[51]	Corn-Soybean	No-Till	19%
4.8	[7]	Corn-Soybean	Plow	**
2.2	[7]	Corn-Corn	Plow	50%

Table 9: Harvestable stover on a percent basis based on crop rotation and harvest technique for a 4.3 ton/ac stover yield [7, 51, 53]

 $\ast$  Percentages based on available stover yield of 4.3 tons\_wet/ac from Table 8 and yield data from NASS corn yield data in Table 7

\*\* Indicates no stover would be available based on average stover production of 4.3 tons<sub>wet</sub>/ac and respective retention amount (tons<sub>wet</sub>/ac)

Given the harvestable stover on percentage basis, it can be seen that no-till, corn-corn operations allow for greater amount of harvestable stover when compared to other techniques; whereas plowing and corn-soybean operations require greater stover retention for sustainability reasons. These values are not exact as there are limiting factors to the percentage of stover that can be removed from a parcel of land. One other major consideration that must be taken into account when removing stover is the water-based erosion that occurs due to ground slope. These environmental constraints must be evaluated based upon specific field topography and geological conditions. If the slope of a field is large, removal of stover can increase the likelihood of soil erosion, which would ultimately remove nutrient-rich soil. Suggested corns stover removal amounts by Milhollin, et al. (2007) are shown in Table 10, along with potential harvest options and their respective stover removal amounts

Field	Potential Stover	Harvest	Removal Amount
Slope	<b>Removal Amount</b>	Method	<b>Given Harvest Method</b>
> 5%	0%	None	0%
2 - 506	< 2506	Cobb Collection	15%
2 - 390	< 23%	Direct Baling	25 - 30%
< 2%	< 50%	Rake & Bale	50%

Table 10: Stover removal with respect to slope of cropland [7]

It can be seen that that the maximum recommended amount for stover harvest is near 50%, based upon the recommended amount of retention for either nutrient return (Table 9) or soil erosion prevention (Table 10). It should be noted that, in most cases, the amount of stover retention/stover removal would be directly related to the specific cropland, given the multi-factored agricultural aspects of crop rotation, harvest technique, and environmental effects. Example values of harvestable stover amounts are shown in Table 11, ranging from 10% to 50% collection that encompasses the recommended ranges of nutrient consideration and slope from Table 9 and Table 10, respectively.

Corn Yield	Stover Yield	Harvestable Stover (tons <sub>wet</sub> /ac)				
(bu/ac)	(tons <sub>wet</sub> /ac)	10%	20%	30%	40%	50%
100	3.0	0.3	0.6	0.9	1.2	1.5
125	3.8	0.4	0.8	1.1	1.5	1.9
150	4.5	0.5	0.9	1.4	1.8	2.3
175	5.3	0.5	1.1	1.6	2.1	2.6
200	6.0	0.6	1.2	1.8	2.4	3.0
225	6.8	0.7	1.4	2.0	2.7	3.4
250	7.5	0.8	1.5	2.3	3.0	3.8
275	8.3	0.8	1.7	2.5	3.3	4.1
300	9.0	0.9	1.8	2.7	3.6	4.5

Table 11: Example of potential harvestable stover ( $tons_{wet}/ac$ ) given corn yield (bu/ac) and stover yield ( $tons_{wet}/ac$ ) based on removal amount (percent basis) to encompass recommended soil nutrient and erosion retention

## 3.4 Harvesting Methods and Considerations

Collection of stover is an important step in preparing the feedstock for the torrefaction process. While the harvesting process can be completed in as many as four operations, performing this step in the most efficient and cost effective manner can significantly affect the overall operational cost of the process. The harvesting procedure can be completed by either in-house harvesting (stover collection is completed by the producer) or by custom harvesting (stover collection is contracted out by producer). Baling of the corn stover is the most effective means to prepare for transportation and pre-processing as the densification into either round or square bales can increase the corn stover bulk density from approximately 3 lbm/ft<sup>3</sup> [12] to as high at 5-10 lbm/ ft<sup>3</sup> [7]. The baling process can be completed by numerous methods (previously discussed in section 2.3.2 Harvesting Techniques) although typical multi-pass round or square baling is the most effective and common. Square baling offers advantages over round baling, especially for biofuel related operations, due to easier handling and logistics of the square shaped bale. While square bales weigh less than round (large square bales are near 0.6 tonswet/bale and round bales near 0.75 tonswet/bale) they do have similar harvesting costs on a per ton basis. A summary of harvesting costs on both harvesting type and baling type bases are shown in Table 12, where it can be seen that in-house square baling is shown to be the most cost effective process.

		Harvest	Bale	Harvesting Cost
Researcher	Ref.	Method	Туре	(\$/ton)
Brechbill, S., and W.E. Tyner	[99]			\$34.92
		In-house	Round	\$17.94
Edwards, W., A. Hohanns,	[[7 100]	In-house	Square	\$17.03
Edwards. W.	[57, 100]	Custom	Round	\$29.02
200100,		Custom	Square	\$30.17

Table 12: Harvesting methods and costs for corn stover based upon various researchers [57, 99, 100]

# **3.5 Logistical Methods and Considerations**

Logistics of transporting corn stover is another major consideration that must be taken into account after the stover has been baled into either round or square bales. Logistical costs are dependent on two primary factors including the amount of stover that must be handled as well as the total weight of the stover crop. While the amount of stover and total weight that must be transported is reliant on the amount of collected stover, the weight of the individual transport loads changes, specifically between large square and round bales due to the volume density of the bale. As with harvest, logistics can also be completed by either in-house or custom means. Costs associated with stover transportation, including round baling, square baling, in-house, and custom harvesting options are shown in Table 13. Unlike stover harvest with square baling being the most cost-effective method, round baling is shown to be the lowest cost option for stover transportation for both inhouse and custom harvesting situations, based upon a per ton-mile basis.

Researcher	Ref.	Logistical Method	Bale Type	Logistics Cost (\$/ton-mile)
Brechbill, S., and W.E. Tyner	[99]			\$0.31
		In-house	Round	\$0.32
Edwards, W., A. Hohanns,	[57 100]	In-house	Square	\$0.42
Edwards, W.	[37, 100]	Custom	Round	\$0.32
		Custom	Square	\$0.42

Table 13: Logistical methods and costs for stover transport based uponvarious researchers and modified to a per ton basis [57, 99, 100]

# **3.6 Torrefaction Biorefining System**

The torrefaction system modeled for this study was defined as a simplified system, which covered the stages of drying, torrefying, and cooling the corn stover feedstock. In order to determine the energy requirements for the model, the energy equations, from Section 2.5.2 Process Energy, are applied in conjunction with the unit operations of the torrefaction system. The energy intensive processes of the torrefaction system were also investigated for potential heat and torrgas energy recovery, which were used to increase the efficiency of the system and improve the economic process.

### 3.6.1 Process Overview

The torrefaction process was divided into five major zones for use in the economic model, including pre-heating, drying, post-drying, torrefaction, and cooling. The torrefaction processing system was considered to be that of a continuous process, with a constant feed rate (tons/hr, lbm/hr) to occur throughout the duration of the biorefining. The raw stover feedstock, at approximately 30%

MC, was assumed to be pre-processed (e.g., chopped, ground, milled, etc.) making the feedstock smaller and more uniform in size. This pre-processing step, occurring prior to entering the heating stages, would increase the ability to process the feedstock more efficiently when compared to the non-uniform stalks, cobs, leaves and husks of the raw corn stover. Additionally, pre-processing would increase the heat transfer of the feedstock and aid in producing a more uniform, torrefied product. Beyond the pre-processing step, the feedstock would be induced to heating and drying through various stages, as discussed in Section 2.5.1 Torrefaction Processing Stages. Upon completion of the torrefaction process, the energy dense product would then be post-processed in a final step where the torrefied stover could be compressed into pellets for residential use, compressed into briquettes for use in industrial applications, or other various packaging for commercial use. For the techno-economic model development, both the pre-processing and postprocessing steps were analyzed solely as an economic factor (i.e., the process itself was not analyzed in terms of energy use, ability to grind the raw biomass, compressibility of the end-product, or the design of related equipment).

#### 3.6.2 System Energy Requirements

The energy requirements stated in Section 2.5.2 Process Energy explains the potential amount of thermal energy that must be supplied in order to make the system operational. The equations, which encompass the energy necessary for preheating, drying, post-drying, and torrefaction each depend on factors including the temperature, federate of the feedstock, as well as thermodynamic feedstock

properties. The primary equations used are listed in Equation 1 through Equation 5, showing the steps required through the processes of pre-heating, drying, postdrying, torrefaction, and cooling, respectively.

$$Q_{ph} = \frac{m_s C_{pw}(212 - T_0)}{h_{uph}}$$
 [Eq. 1]

$$Q_d = \frac{LM_f m_s}{h_{ud}}$$
[Eq. 2]

$$Q_{pd} = \frac{m_s (1 - M_f) C_{pd} (T_{t1} - 212)}{h_{upd}}$$
[Eq. 3]

$$Q_t = H_L + m_s (1 - M_f) X_t \qquad [Eq. 4]$$

### 3.6.3 Heat Recovery

In addition to the energy required for the torrefaction process, heat recovery was also taken into account within the model to determine potential savings, based upon energy efficient implementations that could be possible within a commercialized system. Potential heat recovery, as shown by Equation 5, models the potential heat that could be recovered through the means of a heat exchanging system as the torrefied product is decreased to a post-processing temperature.

$$Q_c = m_s (1 - M_f) M Y_{db} C_{pt} (T_{t2} - T_f)$$
 [Eq. 5]

The heat recovered from the cooling stage could have potential use within early stages of the torrefaction process, such as pre-heating, where the temperature of the feedstock would be significantly lower than the recovery fluid. It should be noted that for this process, the heat exchanger effectiveness must also be taken into effect. Due to no specific design constraints specified by this study, heat exchanger effectiveness was stated as an artificial value of 0.6 for use within the model.

## 3.6.4 Torrgas Energy Recovery

Torrgas energy recovery was also taken into consideration to model the potentially recoverable torrgas produced during the torrefaction stage. For modeling purposes, it was assumed that the torrgas recovered would be used within earlier stages of the process to alleviate required fuel consumption. The energy content of the torrgas vapor stream was determined based on the mass and energy yields of previous research, which indicated that typical mass yields ranged from less than 70% to near 90% and energy yields near 80-95% for various biomass feedstocks [20, 45, 74]. Previous research, specifically on corn stover torrefaction, has shown mass and energy yields of approximately 65-85% and 80-85%, respectively [74]. It should be noted that the mass losses due to torrefaction do not include mass losses due to moisture removal in preceding heating and drying stages. For use within the model, it was assumed that torrefaction mass yields would be 75%, whereas energy yields would be 85%. These values accounted for potentially lower values due to higher degrees of torrefaction temperatures, resulting in decreased mass yields in the torrefied stover product. Raw, unprocessed corn stover has shown to yield a HHV of 5,290 Btu/lbm, and when dried, an increased HHV near 7,560 Btu/lbm [96]. Previous research has shown that torrefaction of corn stover further increases the HHV to approximately 8,468 Btu/lbm [74], significantly greater than that of unprocessed or dried corn stover. Based upon the known characteristics of dried and torrefied corn stover, along with the known mass and energy yields, the potential HHV of torrgas can be approximated, assuming no losses, through the unit operation of the torrefaction stage (Figure 8).



Figure 8: Unit operation of torrefaction stage with vapor (V) and solid (S) products on mass (lbm) and energy (Btu) bases, given the pre-dried corn stover feed (F) with mass yields of 75% and energy yields of 85% through torrefaction stage. Note: losses (e.g., heat, mass, energy) are not accounted for within this approximation

In the specific case of 75% mass and 85% energy yields, the approximated torrgas HHV (using Equation 6 and 7) is 4,536 Btu/lbm or approximately 269 Btu/ft<sup>3</sup>, based upon biomass syngas densities near 0.06 lbm/ft<sup>3</sup> [101] and no losses within the stage itself. While the energy content of the torrgas exhibits a lower HHV (Btu/lbm or Btu/ft<sup>3</sup> basis) when compared to other gas-fuel types (Table 14), it does have value for upstream energy applications, such as direct use within the torrefaction system to alleviate fuel usage. In addition to direct use, previous research has been conducted where the torrgas is cleaned and stored for later use in

heat and power generation processes such as IGCC, CHP, and combustion turbines and engines. [102, 103].

	HHV	HHV	Gas Density	
Gas Type	(Btu/lbm)	<b>(Btu/ft</b> <sup>3</sup> )	(lbm/ft³)	Ref.
Torrgas (stover)	4,536 <sup>1</sup>	269 <sup>2</sup>	0.0593	[101]
Syngas (coal)		250-400		[104]
Natural gas	20,488	1,080	0.0527 <sup>2</sup>	[105]
Propane	21,597	2,538 <sup>2</sup>	0.1175	[105]

Table 14: Comparison of torrgas to selected gaseous fuel type

Note: Values marked with <sup>1</sup> were calculated using the Figure 8 unit operation results and values marked <sup>2</sup> are theoretically calculated based upon HHV (Btu/lbm or Btu/ft<sup>3</sup>) and density (lbm/ft<sup>3</sup>) of the gas based upon reference values

$m_F x_F = m_V x_V + m_S x_S$		[Eq. 6]
Where:	m <sub>F</sub> = mass of feed (lbm)	
	m <sub>v</sub> = mass of vapor stream (lbm)	
	m <sub>s</sub> = mass of solid product (lbm)	
	$x_F$ = mass of feed	
	$x_V$ = mass yield of vapor stream	
	x <sub>s</sub> = mass yield of solid product	
$E_F y_F = E_V y_V + E_S y_S$		[Eq. 7]
Where:	$E_F$ = energy of feed (Btu)	
	E <sub>V</sub> = energy of vapor stream (Btu)	
	E <sub>s</sub> = energy of solid product (Btu)	
	$y_F$ = energy of feed	
	y <sub>v</sub> = energy yield of vapor stream	

y<sub>s</sub> = energy yield of solid product

# **3.7 System Economics**

The economics of the torrefaction system were determined based upon capital investment, the annual operation and maintenance (O&M) costs, the revenue generated by the torrefied product, and the payback period of the system itself. It was determined that associated costs and revenues would remain equal throughout the model, meaning that during the payback period analysis no increases in maintenance or operating costs would occur.

### 3.7.1 Capital Investment

The capital cost (CC) of the torrefaction processing system was selected based upon the throughput-processing rate (PR) of the system itself. A base value was determined for the baseline throughput system, which would increase during scale-up. Due to the torrefaction system not being commercially available, existing reference costs were not available and were based upon existing biomass processing and drying systems (e.g., corn and grain dryers).

# 3.7.2 Harvest and Logistics

Harvesting and logistic costs were determined based upon previous research discussed in sections 3.3 Sustainable Agricultural Management and 3.4 Harvesting Harvesting costs (C<sub>h</sub>) accounted for the amount of corn stover harvested (HS) as well as the cost based on bale type and harvesting technique (BC). Logistical costs (C<sub>l</sub>) were also determined based upon the amount of corn stover harvested (HS), the distance traveled (DT), as well as the bale type and logistic technique (LC). Equations 8 and 9 model the costs associated with harvesting and transporting the corn stover feedstock from field to storage or processing site.

$$C_h = (HS) \times (BC)$$
[Eq. 8]

Where: $C_h = \text{cost of corn stover harvest}(\$_{USD})$ HS = amount of harvested corn stover (tonswet)BC = cost of bale harvesting (\$\_{USD}/ton\_{wet})

 $C_l = (HS) \times (DT) \times (LC)$  [Eq. 9]

Where: $C_l = \text{cost of corn stover logistics } (\$_{USD})$ HS = amount of harvested corn stover (tonswet)DT = distance traveled (mile)LC = cost of harvest logistics ( $\$_{USD}/\text{ton}_{wet}$ -mile)

# 3.7.3 Operating and Maintenance

Operating and Maintenance (O&M) costs incorporated a variety of metrics and were based upon operator time (hours), electrical energy consumption (kWh), fuel requirement (gal or Btu), and annual preventative maintenance costs (\$) on an annual basis. The cost to control and operate the torrefaction equipment was based upon time (hours) and operator pay rate (\$/hour). Operating hours were determined by the required time to process the entire harvested corn stover crop, which was based upon the processing rate (PR) and total amount of corn stover feedstock (HS) harvested. The total cost of operators (C<sub>op</sub>) is modeled in Equation 10.

$$C_{op} = \left(\frac{1}{PR}\right) \times (HS) \times (RP) \times \left(N_{op}\right)$$
 [Eq. 10]

Where: $C_{op}$  = cost to employ equipment operator (\$USD)PR = time to process corn stover feedstock (tonswet /hr)HS = amount of harvested corn stover (tonswet)RP = rate of pay for individual operator (\$USD/hr)Nop = number of operators

Operating costs, in terms of required electrical energy, were determined based upon the needs of the processing system, which would require electrical energy to drive motors (e.g., milling, conveying, pelletizing, etc.) as well as process instrumentation and electrical equipment (e.g., control system, valve operation, safety equipment, etc.). Equation 11 models the cost of electrical power ( $C_{ep}$ ) for use in operating the torrefaction system.

$$C_{ep} = (EP) \times \left(\frac{1}{PR}\right) \times (HS) \times (EC)$$
 [Eq. 11]

Where: $C_{ep}$  = cost of electrical power (\$USD)EP = electrical power required by system (kW)PR = time to process feedstock (tonswet /hr)HS = amount of feedstock (tonswet)EC = electrical power cost (\$USD/kWh)

The torrefaction system requires fuel energy, such as propane (LP), to operate burners and generate the required heat to process the feedstock (3.6.2 System Energy Requirements). The process energy needed (PE), shown in Equations 1-4, can be potentially alleviated through torrgas energy recovery (ER) and heat recovery (HR) practices. Equation 12 models the cost of fuel required to generate thermal energy ( $C_{th}$ ) for the torrefaction process.

$$C_{th} = (PE - ER - HR) \times \left(\frac{1}{LP}\right) \times (PC)$$
 [Eq. 12]

Where: $C_{th}$  = cost of thermal energy (\$USD)PE = process energy required (Btu)ER = torrgas energy recovery (Btu)HR = heat recovery (Btu)LP = propane energy (Btu/gal)PC = propane cost (\$/gal)

Due to the mechanical nature of the torrefaction system, the gaseous and solid products generated, as well as the composition of material being process, it was determined that preventative maintenance would need to be implemented in order to operate the system safely and efficiently. It was determined that a percentage of the capital cost should be allocated towards annual maintenance (MP) for continues use of the system. Equation 13 models the cost of preventative maintenance ( $C_{pm}$ ) for the torrefaction system.

$$C_{pm} = (CC) \times (MP)$$
 [Eq. 13]

Where:Cpm = cost of preventative maintenance (\$USD)CC = capital investment of equipment (\$USD)MP = preventative maintenance percent of capital cost

# 3.7.4 Torrefied Product Market Value

Torrefied corn stover exhibits many value added characteristics, including higher energy content, hydrophobic qualities, and the ability to be compressed denser than raw corn stover. The enhanced value added nature of the torrefied and pelletized product allows for corn stover to be more competitive within the energy sector, based upon logistics, usability with existing infrastructure, and the energy value of the product. A comparison of solid fuel products, shown in Table 15, shows how corn stover compares to other commonly used solid fuel sources. This comparison shows that pelletized and torrefied corn stover is competitive in terms of energy content and bulk density to selected biomass and fossil product fuels.

Fuel	HHV	Bulk Density		
Туре	(Btu/lbm)	(lbm/ft <sup>3</sup> )	Ref.	
Raw corn stover	5,290	3 (loose) 5-10 (baled)	[7, 96]	
Dried corn stover	7,560		[96]	
Torrefied corn stover (pelletized)	8,500	37-44	[13, 74]	
Wood pellets	8,570	40	[96, 106]	
Subbituminous coal (PRB)	8,300-9,500	42-57	[107]	
Lignite coal (NDL)	6,300-8,300	40-54		

Table 15: Comparison of torrefied corn stover pellet HHV (Btu/lbm) and bulk density (lbm/ft<sup>3</sup>) to selected solid fuel types

Torrefied corn stover has a HHV of approximately 8,500 Btu/lbm and is very similar to the HHV of wood, which is 8,570 Btu/lbm [96]. Wood is often dried and pelletized, making it highly effective for use in residential heating applications. This same process can also be done to torrefied corn stover that has a similar energy content as wood in a very dense envelope of 37-44 lbm/ft<sup>3</sup> [13]. Wood pellets retail in a commercial settings for approximately \$180-\$250 per ton [108], but can also be purchased individually in 40 pound bags.

Pelletized and torrefied corn stover is also comparable to that of some coal types, both in terms of its HHV and bulk density. The most similar types of coal include Powder River Basin (PRB) subbituminous coal and North Dakota lignite
(NDL), which have HHVs of approximately 8,300-9,500 Btu/lbm and 6,300-8,300 Btu/lbm, respectively [107]. This similarity aids in making it possible for torrefied corn stover pellets to emerge within the power generation market as a co-firing fuel in existing facilities or as a stand-alone fuel for biomass power generation facilities. Market values reported by the EIA for 2014 shown PRB and NDL coal valued at \$14-\$18 per ton [109]. These values are those typically seen in large industrial power generation facilities, although other prices may arise based upon the end-user sector.

Since torrefied corn stover pellets have similar attributes to that of wood pellets and some coal types, torrefied corn stover pellets could be sold in the same market for a similar price as wood. However, due to the large market value differential of wood pellets and coal (\$180-\$250 per ton for wood pellets and \$14-\$18 per ton for coal), it is more profitable to value corn stover based upon wood pellet prices for residential heating use. Within the power generation market the cost of torrefied corn stover could be substantially more than that of coal, primarily due to bio-based fuels having less emissions and potential for carbon neutral emissions. Equation 14 models the potential revenue available (R<sub>tp</sub>) based upon the market value of the torrefied corn stover pellets.

$$R_{tn} = (TP) \times (MV)$$
 [Eq. 14]

Where: $R_{tp}$  = revenue of torrefied pellets (\$USD)TP = amount of torrefied product (tonsdry)MV = market value of torrefied pellets (\$USD/tondry)

#### 3.7.5 System Feasibility

The feasibility of the torrefaction system was based upon three primary metrics; the total annual profit generated ( $\frac{y}{year}$ ), the payback period of the investment (years), and the return on investment. Total system profit (on an annual basis) was determined by accounting for the associated costs of harvesting and logistics, O&M, and the market value of the torrefied corn stover product. Equation 15 models the potential profit ( $P_{tp}$ ) generated by the marketing of the torrefied pellet product, with all associated costs accounted for. The payback period of the torrefaction system is calculated using Equation 16 and the return on investment (ROI) by Equation 17; each use the torrefied pellet profit ( $P_{tp}$ ) given on an annual basis and the capital equipment cost (CC) on a one-time basis.

$$P_{tp} = (R_{tp}) - (C_h) - (C_l) - (C_{op}) - (C_{ep}) - (C_{th}) - (C_{pm})$$
[Eq. 15]

Where:

re: $P_{tp}$  = profit of torrefied pellets (\$usd) $R_{tp}$  = revenue of torrefied pellets (\$usd) $C_h$  = cost of corn stover harvest (\$usd) $C_l$  = cost of corn stover logistics (\$usd) $C_op$  = cost to employ equipment operator (\$usd) $C_{ep}$  = cost of electrical power (\$usd) $C_{th}$  = cost of thermal energy (\$usd) $C_{pm}$  = cost of preventative maintenance (\$usd)

$$PP = \frac{CC}{P_{tp}}$$
[Eq. 16]  
Where: PP = system payback period (years)  
CC = capital investment of equipment (\$<sub>USD</sub>)  
P<sub>tp</sub> = profit of torrefied pellets (\$<sub>USD</sub>/year)

$$ROI = \frac{P_{tp}}{CC + AC}$$

Where:ROI = return on investment (percentage) $P_{tp}$  = profit of torrefied pellets (\$usD/year)CC = capital investment of equipment (\$usD)AC = sum of annual costs (\$usD)

[Eq. 17]

# 4.1 Introduction

The overall viability of implementing distributed torrefaction systems is heavily reliant the system feasibility –specifically the system payback period and return on investment. As discussed in Chapter 3, a multitude of factors affect the system, including stover feedstock collection, material processing, and the market value of the torrefied stover product. These factors are further investigated using the techno-economic model within the following sections and focus on the following topic studies:

- A baseline case using average and typical values to act as a benchmark for comparison.
- A sensitivity analysis to determine operating performance for individual input variations.

# 4.2 Baseline Case Analysis

Values selected for use within the baseline case are based upon previous research (see Chapter 3 for in-depth discussion of potential value ranges) in order to develop a basis for comparison and benchmarking subsequent analyses. In the baseline case the values selected for use were the average, typical, and most likely to occur (i.e., values that fell within the ranges set forth by previous research for crop production, harvestable stover, etc.). Values used within the baseline analysis are shown in Table 16. Parameter values used within the model were based upon previous research or current-date values; however, it should be noted that several values were determined based upon comparison to existing mechanical systems or processes due to torrefaction systems not being commercialized at the time this thesis was written.

Parameter	Value	Unit	Reasoning	Ref.
Corn Yield	150	bu/ac	Based upon NASS data	[92]
Harvest Area	1,000	ac	Baseline assumption	
Harvest Rotation	Corn-Corn		Allows for greater harvest	[7, 51, 53]
Harvest Type	In-house		More cost effective	[57, 100]
Baling Type	Square		Logistics and handling	[57]
Transport	20	miles	Baseline assumption	
Harvest Amount	40	%	Sustainable and attainable	[7, 51, 53]
Capital Cost	200,000	\$	Baseline assumption	
<b>Processing Rate</b>	5.0	tph	Demonstration scale	[26]
Motor Power	200	hp	Baseline assumption	
Operators	2		Baseline assumption	
Fuel Cost	2.00	\$/gal	Current propane price	[110]
Electric Cost	0.12	\$/kWh	Current electric price	[111]
Product Value	120	\$/ton	Near wood pellet value	[108]

**Table 16: Parameters set for baseline analysis** 

Based upon the parameters set forth for the baseline (Table 16), the following process parameters and results (Table 17) in terms of material, energy, and products were attained. The results show that required process energy (Btu), modeled by Equations 1-4 and taking into account the processing rate (tph), heating rate (Btu/hr), and time (hr) set forth by the input parameters, follow the theoretical steps of drying being the most energy intensive operation at 1,191 MMBtu. Heat and torrgas energy recovery, modeled by Equation 5 and the mass-energy balances of Equations 6-7, is shown to alleviate nearly 70% of the required process energy, given a heat recovery effectiveness of 0.5 and a torrgas energy recovery

effectiveness of 0.6. Total fuel requirements (Btu), less all energy and heat recovery, were shown to be 457 MMBtu, which would require approximately 5,000 gallons of propane fuel to meet the heating requirements of the system. End products, based on a 75% mass yield and 85% energy yield, equated to approximately 913.5 tons<sub>dry</sub> and 15,471.0 MMBtu of energy. It should be noted that the final product of 913.5 tons<sub>dry</sub> is 75% of the dried biomass that entered into the torrefaction stage and does not include the mass loss due to moisture removal in the drying stages. In total, 52.5% of the initial 1,740 tons<sub>wet</sub> was retained.

Process Operation	Value	Unit
Feedstock Processing		
Processing Rate	5	tph
Feed	1,740	tons <sub>wet</sub>
Total Time	348.0	hours
Process Energy		
Pre-Heating	214.2	MMBtu
Drying	1,191.4	MMBtu
Post-Drying	32.8	MMBtu
Torrefaction	41.4	MMBtu
Heat and Energy Recovery		
Heat Recovery	27.7	MMBtu
Torrgas Energy Recovery	994.5	MMBtu
Energy Savings	69.1%	
Fuel Requirements		
Total Energy	457.5	MMBtu
Propane	5,000	gal
End Product		
Solid Product	913.5	tons <sub>dry</sub>
Product Energy Content	15,471.0	MMBtu

Table 17: Baseline process operation parameters, requirements, and endproducts

## 4.2.1 Annual Baseline

Results of the of the annual baseline analysis indicated that the distributed torrefaction system would cost approximately \$79,587 to operate while generating nearly 913 tons<sub>dry</sub> of torrefied product – a value of nearly \$109,620. An approximate annual profit of \$34,701 was possible, generating a potential payback period of 5.8 years and an annual ROI of 46%. The annual economic summary (Table 18) and cost distribution (Figure 9) show all associated costs for preparing and processing the stover feedstock on a yearly basis, not including capital costs. Annual results show that stover harvest and transport were the most costly portions of the overall process, accounting for 59.1% of the overall costs. The torrefaction system 0&M made up the remaining costs at 40.8% of the total. Given that the analysis was based upon a single operating year, it can be determined that actual collection and preparing the raw corn stover crop for feedstock was the most costly operation. Additionally, due to the single year period, it was impractical to evaluate the capital costs within the annual baseline analysis, as it would make up 72.7% of the costs.

Economic Metric	Value	Unit
Costs		
Capital Equipment Cost	\$200,000	\$
Stover Harvest	\$29,632	\$
Stover Logistics	\$14,616	\$
Equipment Operator	\$10,440	\$
Electrical Energy	\$6,231	\$
Thermal Energy	\$10,000	\$
Preventative Maintenance	\$4,000	\$
Total Costs for Operation	\$74,919	\$/year
Revenue		
Annual Product Revenue	\$109,620	\$/year
Profit		
Annual Operating Profit	\$34,701	\$/year
System Feasibility		
System Payback	5.8	years
Annual ROI	46.3%	

Table 18: Baseline case annual economic summary



Figure 9: Annual baseline cost distribution excluding capital cost

#### 4.2.2 10-Year Baseline

In order to determine how the capital cost affects the lifecycle of the system, the baseline results were extended to a 10-year period operation – this makes it possible to determine what effect equipment costs have on total profit. The cumulative cash flow for the projected 10-year operating period and 5.8-year payback period is shown in Figure 10, while Table 19 and Figure 11 show overall cost distributions that include capital equipment costs. It was determined that a potential ROI of 15% was possible over the 10-year operation period, which included capital and annual costs. The results of this analysis showed harvesting and logistics accounted for 46.6% of the total costs over a 10-year period. Costs associated with 0&M were 32.3% and the remaining capital equipment costs that over longer periods of time, capital costs make up a significantly lower portion of the costs associated with operating the distributed torrefaction system.



Figure 10:	Cumulative	cash flow	10-vear o	perating	period.
- Baro - O.	Gamanative	caon no n	10 9000 0	Peramb	porroa

Economic Metric	Value	Unit
Costs		
Capital Equipment Cost	\$200,000	\$
Stover Harvest	\$296,322	\$
Stover Logistics	\$146,160	\$
Equipment Operator	\$104,400	\$
Electrical Energy	\$62,306	\$
Thermal Energy	\$100,004	\$
Preventative Maintenance	\$40,000	\$
10-Year System Cost	\$949,192	\$/10-years
10-Year Revenue		
Revenue	\$1,096,200	\$/10-years
10-Year Profit		
Profit	\$147,008	\$/10-years
System Feasibility		
System Payback	5.8	years
10-Year ROI	15.5%	

	40			
Ι απία ΤΨ' Καταπίπα τάτα	III-voar	onoration	aconomic	cummary
I able I J. Dasellie case	IU-VCal y	υντιατινιί	CUMUIIIU	Summar v





## 4.2.3 Baseline Analysis Summary

Outcomes showed that it was feasible to operate the distributed torrefaction system given the set parameters of the baseline analysis. Results indicated that it was possible to attain a payback period of 5.8 years under continuing annual operation of the baseline parameters. The conversion process of the system was shown to be economical in terms of energy costs, which made up 21.6% of the total annual operating costs (8.3% electric energy and 13.3 % thermal energy). However, it was indicated that significant costs were attributed to the harvesting and logistical operations (59.1% of annual costs). This was shown to be the case on both an annual and 10-year period basis.

#### 4.3 Sensitivity Analysis

The operation of the torrefaction system model is highly dependent on the variable input parameters used, which increases the potential for multiple outcomes by varying one or more parameters. The purpose of the sensitivity analysis was to determine the effects that certain parameters had on the overall model, and ultimately the theoretical viability of the distributed torrefaction system. The following sections explain in detail the factors that were varied and the outcomes of the respective variations.

### 4.3.1 Corn Stover Collection

The time-related performance of the torrefaction system is highly dependent on two primary factors; the processing rate of the system (tph) and the total amount of feedstock (tons<sub>wet</sub>). In many cases it is not possible to harvest the maximum amount of corn stover available (see Section 3.4 Harvesting Methods and Considerations) or the amount may vary from year to year, depending on the corn crop yield. In order to determine operating conditions and system viability with variable stover collection, the baseline case parameters were applied in conjunction with variable corn stover collection amounts ranging from 10% up to 50% (Figure 12).

Profits were shown to have a linear relationship for the analysis, increasing approximately \$9,675 per additional 10% of stover collected. However, the payback period did not follow the same linearity. This was attributed to the additional amount of stover collected that increased the total amount of feedstock to be processed. Given the fixed processing rate of 5 tph, the overall amount of time increased, ultimately increasing costs related to operating, electrical energy consumption, and the amount of fuel required. Overall, the system was shown to be feasible at stover collection amounts as low as 30%, yielding an 8.0-year payback period. Results also indicated that the law of diminishing returns applied directly to this case analysis, where the payback period decreased rapidly at low collection amounts and in small increments as stover harvest increased (e.g., decrease in payback period from 10% to 20% stover harvest was 22.2 years and from 30% to 40% it was only 2.3 years).



Figure 12: Profit and payback period based on harvest amount variation from 10% to 50% under baseline parameters

#### 4.3.2 Scaling and Processing Rate

The processing rate can greatly affect the overall performance of the torrefaction system as the processing rate determines the time it takes to torrefy the feedstock supply. Varying the processing rate shows direct correlation to changes in electrical energy consumption (kWh), the required heating rate (Btu/hr) (total heat requirement is maintained), as well as operator time and cost. For this analysis the baseline parameters were used and the processing rate (tph), motor sizes (hp), number of operators, and capital costs (\$) were varied using scaling factors. The scaling factors selected (Table 20) were based on BPI scaling and available data on related equipment (e.g., blower motors, pumps, and boilers). The processing rate was varied from 2 to 20 tph in order to show the effect of the scaling factor of 10, with processing rates of 4, 6, 8, and 10 tph used to show intermediate rates applicable to the baseline analysis.

	Scaling	Reference
Factor	Factor	System
Processing Rate (tph)	10	BPI scaling [48]
Motors (bp)	F	Corn dryer blow motors
Motors (np)	5	Centrifugal pump motors
Process Operators (#)	8	Assumption
Capital Cast (¢)	0	Corn dryers, industrial electric motors
Capital Cost (\$)	ð	Centrifugal pumps, gas-fired boiler systems

Table 20: Scaling factors used in processing rate analysis

The variation of processing rate showed significant effects on the overall profitability of the system, as well as the potential payback period. It can be seen by Figure 13 that profit decreased linearly as the processing rate increased, which was

attributed to the increased costs associated to additional motors and operators. However, the payback period was shown to increase in a non-linear trend as the processing rate increased, a result of the capital cost increasing as processing rates increased. The greatest profit and lowest payback period was shown to occur at a 2 tph processing rate – this rate had the lowest capital costs and required the least amount of motor horsepower and operators. Following the trend throughout the processing rate increase, it was shown that the lowest profit and longest payback period occurred at 20 tph. The payback period was shown to increase more rapidly as the processing rate increased. Given the fixed amount of feedstock in the analysis (1,740 tons<sub>wet</sub> of corn stover), increasing the size of the torrefaction biorefining system was shown to be a non-profitable investment. However, if the amount of feedstock were to increase significantly it would be viable to implement a higher processing rate torrefaction system. Additionally, if the time allowed for processing was of concern a faster processing rate system could be an option although it would not be as profitable.



Figure 13: Profit and payback period based on processing rate variation from 2-20 tph at 40% corn stover harvest

## 4.3.3 Torrgas Energy Recovery and Storage

Recovering torrgas from the torrefaction stage for use within the heating and drying stages is both an efficient and economical option for operating a distributed torrefaction system. It was shown in the baseline analysis that implementing torrgas energy recovery, along with waste heat recovery, approximately 69.1% of the total energy required by the system could be alleviated. While this option decreases the required fuel input, storing the torrgas for future use in other applications is also an option. Exploration of this pathway was based upon the baseline parameters but implementing no gas recovery - this ultimately decreased the amount of energy savings within the system and increased the fuel required to provide process heating. A comparison of the baseline case (torrgas recovery) and the storage analysis (torrgas storage) is shown in Table 21. It should be noted that additional costs of storage equipment (e.g., pressure vessels, rotating equipment, chiller units, etc.) were not included within the analysis, as the purpose was to exhibit the effects of additional fuel requirements on annual profit and the payback period of the system.

Energy	Torrgas	Torrgas	
Accounting	Recovery	Storage	Unit
Energy Use/Savings			
Process Energy Required	1,480	1,480	MMBtu
Heat Recovery	27.7	27.7	MMBtu
Torrgas Energy Recovery	994.5	0	MMBtu
Torrgas Recovered	3,697.1	0	Mcf
Net Energy	457.5	1,452.0	MMBtu
Energy Savings	69.1%	1.9%	
Propane Requirement	5,000	15,869	gal
(Natural Gas Equivalent)	(457.5)	(1451.9)	Mcf
System Feasibility			
Annual Operating Profit	\$34,701	\$12,964	\$
System Payback	5.8	15.4	years
Annual ROI	46.3%	13.4%	

 Table 21: Comparison of system fuel requirements and feasibility between

 torrgas recovery and storage with baseline parameters

A direct result from eliminating torrgas recovery was an increase in the purchased fuel required to process the corn stover feedstock – an increase of approximately 994 MMBtu or the equivalent of 10,869 gallons of propane. The significant increase in propane usage accounted for an additional \$21,737 in costs, which ultimately reduced the profit while making the payback period increase from 5.8 years up to 15.4 years. Although the operating costs increase by storing torrgas, the potential downstream applications (e.g., gas turbine or combustion engine fuel, renewable fuel supplementation) of the cleaned torrgas extend the markets of the torrefaction products.

Currently, there is one coal-to-syngas facility in operation within the United States, which produces syngas for natural gas supplementation and chemical applications. This coal-derived syngas product has a HHV of 975 Btu/ft<sup>3</sup> and is sold

at an average retail value of \$3.84/MMBtu [112]. Torrgas exhibits an approximate HHV of 269 Btu/ft<sup>3</sup> (4,536 Btu/lbm, see section 3.6.4 Torrgas Energy Recovery for value determination) – a HHV that is 28% of coal syngas (970 Btu/ft<sup>3</sup>) and 25% of natural gas (1,080 Btu/ft<sup>3</sup>). A comparison of gas fuels on energy and cost bases is shown in Table 22. Given the typical market prices of coal syngas at \$3.84/MMBtu and natural gas at \$2.00/MMBtu, an assumed value of \$3.84/MMBtu was set for the stover-derived torrgas product. As a result, the market value of the torrgas only equates to \$3,819 – a substantially lower value than the nearly \$20,000 of propane alleviated when directly using the torrgas within the torrefaction system itself. It can be determined from this analysis that torrgas storage proves to be a less economically viable pathway, given the current low natural gas prices.

Table 22: Comparison of torrgas to other fuels on equivalent energy and costbases

Gas Type	Energy Content (Btu/ft <sup>3</sup> )	Market Value (\$/MMBtu)	Energy/Cost (Btu/\$)
Torrgas (stover)	269	\$3.84	260,417
Syngas (coal)	975	\$3.84	260,417
Natural Gas	1,080	\$2.00	500,000
Propane	2,538 [91,500 But/gal]	\$21.86 [\$2.00/gal]	45,750

## 4.3.4 Summary of Sensitivity Analysis

Completion of the sensitivity analysis yielded multiple outcomes to further analyze the feasibility of the distributed torrefaction system. One key parameter was varied in each case, including the amount of harvested or collected stover, the processing rate of the system, and the recovery of the torrgas. The following outcomes were determined:

- Increasing stover harvest supplies a greater amount of feedstock to be converted into value added products (increased profit). However, under a constant processing rate (tph) the added feedstock supply increases the overall processing time, fuel requirements, and electrical consumption. As a result, the payback period significantly decreases beyond 20% collection and shows that collection beyond 40% yields little additional benefits due to diminishing returns.
- 2. Increasing the processing rate was shown to be non-profitable given the fixed amount of 1,740 tons<sub>wet</sub> of corn stover feedstock. Scaling factors were shown to make the lower-rate processing system less economically feasible, although the higher-rate processing could be beneficial if a greater amount of feedstock was present, such as in a commercial biorefining site.
- 3. Consumption of torrgas as a fuel supplement within the torrefaction process was shown to be more profitable and economically viable when compared to storing the gas for future uses. Savings due to propane alleviation far outweighed the profits generated by selling the torrgas, given the assumed value of \$3.84/MMBtu based on coal syngas. In addition to this, additional processing and transportation costs were not included, which would incur additional costs for storing the torrgas product. However, if an alternative value-added option existed (e.g., use of torrgas for specialty chemicals) then torrgas storage may prove to be a lucrative option.

# **5.1 Conclusion**

The research performed for this thesis investigated the economic feasibility of implementing a distributed torrefaction system. This study assessed the technoeconomic aspects of a harvest to market scenario for corn stover that would produce value added products, which included torrefied biomass and torrgas. The model was evaluated on the assumption that it would be operated and owned by an agricultural enterprise, meaning the analysis encompassed the collection, transport, processing, and marketing of the torrefied corn stover product.

Outcomes of the techno-economic model showed that both harvesting and operating parameters affect the feasibility of implementing a farm-scale torrefaction system. Harvesting considerations of the corn stover feedstock were shown to be highly influential in sustainable stover collection and governed the feedstock availability. The torrefaction process itself was shown to produce valuable solid products that could be pelletized and sold as a coal substitute, a co-firing agent, or as a residential pellet stove fuel. Torrgas products were shown to be an effective source for fuel alleviation within the process and the implementation of heat and torrgas energy recovery proved to make substantial impacts on the required process energy.

The baseline analysis showed that the distributed system could produce value added products while maintaining a payback period of less than 6 years at an annual ROI of 46%. Extending the baseline analysis to a 10-year operation showed

that overall profitability, when maintained, would generate a 15% ROI with annual operating and capital costs were taken into account. Implementation of heat and torrgas energy recovery was shown to decrease the fuel required for process energy by nearly 70%, substantially decreasing the required fuel costs.

A sensitivity analysis was used to show that specific changes in key parameters would affect the overall performance of the system in terms of profitability and payback period. Variable harvest was shown to be influential on the profitability and payback period, although as the harvest amount increased, diminishing returns were prevalent. Processing rates, in addition to scaling factors, were shown to make higher-rate processing less feasible than lower-rate processing systems given a fixed amount of feedstock. Payback periods were shown to increase non-linearly as the processing rate increased due to the scaling factors for motor size, number of operators, and the capital cost. Torrgas recovery was shown to be a highly valuable implementation in the system when compared to capturing and storing the torrgas for later uses. The low prices of natural gas and the higher production cost of torrgas made recovering the torrgas a more beneficial pathway.

Upon reviewing literature, researching existing thermochemical pathways, and analyzing the results of the techno-economic model, it was concluded that distributed torrefaction using corn stover feedstock offers an innovative and feasible pathway to utilizing a commonly discarded biomass resource.

## 5.2 Future Work

The results of this study provided an in-depth look into the technical and economic aspects of distributed torrefaction based upon experimental and theoretical values. In order to further validate the results of this study, the following recommendations are presented:

- Investigate more complex process-simulation models to take into account chemical reactions, mechanical processes, and equipment sizing for design considerations of a full-scale system.
- Expand the existing techno-economic model to analyze scaling processes and compare a demonstration scale distributed torrefaction system to a multi-system biorefining site (multiple demonstration scale systems in a side-by-side process) and a dedicated biorefining facility (single system on a large commercial scale).
- Explore additional uses for the torrefied products to make use of the energy dense solids and torrgas.
- Analyze a demonstration-scale torrefaction system to validate the technoeconomic results.

1.	Energy Information Administration (EIA), <i>March 2014, Monthly Energy</i> Review 2014 U.S. Department of Energy Energy Information
	Administration DOF/FIA-0035(2014/03): Washington DC
2	Environmental Protection Agency (EDA) Clean Dower Dan United States
Δ.	Environmental Protection Agency Editor 2015, Washington DC 80 EP
	Elivironmental Protection Agency, Euror. 2015: Washington, DC. 60 FK
2	64001. p. $65001$ - $64964$ ( $504$ pages).
3.	Energy Information Administration (EIA), Annual Energy Outlook 2014. 2014,
	U.S. Department of Energy: Washington, DC.
4.	Energy Information Administration (EIA), March 2015, Monthly Energy
	<i>Review</i> . 2015, U.S. Department of Energy, Energy Information
_	Administration, DOE/EIA-0035(2015/03): Washington, DC.
5.	Environmental Protection Agency (EPA), <i>The Energy Independence and</i>
	<i>Security Act of 2007</i> . 2007: Pub. L . No. 110-40 H.R. 6, 121 Stat. 1492.
6.	Energy Information Administration (EIA), <i>Biofuels Issues and Trends</i> . 2012,
	U.S. Department of Energy: Washington, DC. p. 1.
7.	Milhollin, R., et al., Feasibility of Corn Stover in Missouri, in Missouri Stover
	Products. 2011, University of Missouri Extension Commercial Agricultural
	Program: Columbia MO.
8.	Department of Energy (DOE). Bio-Based Product Basics. U.S. Department of
	Energy, Office of Energy Efficiency and Renewable Energy 2013 [cited 2016
	February 2]; Available from: http://energy.gov/eere/energybasics.
9.	Perlack, R.D. and B.J. Stokes, U.S. Billion-Ton Update: Biomass Supply for a
	Bioenergy and Bioproducts Industry. 2011, ORNL/TM-2011/224. U.S.
	Department of Energy. Oak Ridge National Laboratory: Oak Ridge, TN. p. 227.
10.	Milbrandt, A., A Geographic Perspective on the Current Biomass Resource
	Availability in the United States 2005, National Renewable Energy
	Laboratory (NREL): Golden CO. Tech. no. NREL/TP-560-3981.
11.	Meyer, M., Placing a Value on Corn Stover. 2012, University of Wisconsin –
	Extension: Madison, WI.
12.	Thoreson, C.P., et al., Investigation of Process Variables in the Densification of
	<i>Corn Stover Briquettes.</i> Energies, 2014. <b>7</b> (6): p. 4019-4032.
13.	Horner, J. and R. Milhollin, Marketing Study for Corn Stover in Missouri, in
	Missouri Stover Products. 2011, University of Missouri Extension Commercial
	Agricultural Program: Columbia MO.
14.	Bergman, P.C. and J.H. Kiel. <i>Torrefaction for biomass upgrading</i> . in <i>Proc.</i> 14th
	European Biomass Conference, Paris, France. 2005.
15.	van der Stelt, M.J.C., et al., Biomass upgrading by torrefaction for the
	production of biofuels: A review. Biomass and Bioenergy. 2011. <b>35</b> (9): p.
	3748-3762.
16.	Larsson, S.H., et al., Effects of moisture content, torrefaction temperature, and
	die temperature in pilot scale pelletizing of torrefied Norway spruce. Applied
	Energy, 2013, <b>102</b> : n. 827-832.
	,,, _,

- 17. Bergman, P.C.A., *Combined torrefaction and pelletisation. The TOP process.* 2005, Energy Research Centre of the Netherlands (ECN): The Netherlands. ECN-C--05-073.
- Tumuluru, J.S., R.D. Boardman, and C.T. Wright, *Response surface analysis of elemental composition and energy properties of corn stover during torrefaction.* Journal of Biobased Materials and Bioenergy, 2012. 6(1): p. 25-35.
- 19. Medic, D., et al., *The effects of particle size, different corn stover components, and gas residence time on torrefaction of corn stover.* Energies, 2012. **5**(4): p. 1199-1214.
- 20. Medic, D., *Investigation of torrefaction process parameters and characterization of torrefied biomass.* 2012.
- 21. Pimchuai, A., A. Dutta, and P. Basu, *Torrefaction of agriculture residue to enhance combustible properties*<sup>†</sup>. Energy & Fuels, 2010. **24**(9): p. 4638-4645.
- 22. Kaliyan, N., et al., *Life cycle assessment of a corn stover torrefaction plant integrated with a corn ethanol plant and a coal fired power plant.* Biomass and Bioenergy, 2014. **63**: p. 92-100.
- 23. Shankar Tumuluru, J., et al., *REVIEW: A review on biomass torrefaction process and product properties for energy applications.* Industrial Biotechnology, 2011. **7**(5): p. 384-401.
- 24. Bergman, P.C., et al., *Torrefaction for biomass co-firing in existing coal-fired power stations.* Energy Centre of Netherlands, Report No. ECN-C-05-013, 2005.
- 25. Gil, M., et al., *Thermal behaviour and kinetics of coal/biomass blends during cocombustion.* Bioresource Technology, 2010. **101**(14): p. 5601-5608.
- 26. Kleinschmidt, C. *Overview of international developments in torrefaction*. in *Torrefaction Workshop*. 2011.
- 27. Kovarik, B., *Henry Ford, Charles F. Kettering and the fuel of the future.* Automotive History Review, 1998. **32**: p. 7-27.
- Songstad, D.D., et al., *Historical Perspective of Biofuels: Learning from the Past to Rediscover the Future.* In Vitro Cellular & Developmental Biology. Plant, 2009. 45(3): p. 189-192.
- 29. Cicero, D. *Coal Gasification & Co-production of Chemicals & Fuels*. Workshop on Gasification Technologies. Indianapolis, IN. 2007 [cited 2016 January 27]; Available from:

www.gasification.org/Docs/Workshops/2007/Indianapolis/06Cicero.

- 30. Maugeri, L., *The age of oil: the mythology, history, and future of the world's most controversial resource.* 2007: Globe Pequot.
- 31. Mouawad, J., *Oil prices pass record set in'80s, but then recede.* New York Times, 2008. **3**.
- 32. Zerbe, J.I., et al. *Biofuels: Production and potential*. in *Forum for applied research and public policy*. 1988.
- 33. Energy Information Administration (EIA). *U.S. Fuel Ethanol Plant Production Capacity*. 2015 [cited 2016 February 1]; Available from: http://www.eia.gov/petroleum/ethanolcapacity/.

- 34. Energy Information Administration (EIA). *FAQ: How much ethanol is* produced, imported, and consumed in the United States? 2015 [cited 2016 February 1]; Available from: http://www.eia.gov/tools/faqs/faq.cfm?id=90&t=4.
- 35. Energy Information Administration (EIA). *Today in Energy: Commercial-scale cellulosic ethanol plant opens*. 2014 [cited 2015 February 1]; Available from: http://www.eia.gov/todayinenergy/detail.cfm?id=17851.
- 36. BTG-BTL. *Pyrolysis Oil Applications*. 2016 [cited 2016 March 10]; Available from: http://www.btg-btl.com/en/applications.
- 37. E4tech and National Non-Food Crops Centre (NNFCC), *Review of Technologies for Gasification of Biomass and Wastes*. 2009.
- 38. National Energy Technology Laboratory (NETL). *Commercial Power Production Based on Gasification*. n.d. [cited 2016 March 10]; Available from: http://www.netl.doe.gov/research.
- 39. Koppejan, J., et al. *Status overview of torrefaction technologies*. in *IEA bioenergy task*. 2012.
- 40. HM3 Energy. *HM3 Energy Achievments*. 2010 [cited 2016 March 2010]; Available from: http://hm3energy.com/about/hm3-energy-achievements/.
- 41. Austin, A. *Oregon torrefaction company scores second USDA grant*. 2011 [cited 2016 March 10]; Available from: http://biomassmagazine.com.
- 42. Van den Broek, R., A. Faaij, and A. van Wijk, *Biomass combustion for power generation.* Biomass and Bioenergy, 1996. **11**(4): p. 271-281.
- 43. BIOMASS. *Biomass Power List Biomass Plants*. 2015 December 9 [cited 2016 March 10]; Available from: http://biomassmagazine.com.
- 44. Energy Information Administration (EIA), *February 2013, Electric Power Monthly*. 2013, U.S. Department of Energy, Energy Information Administration: Washington, DC.
- 45. International Energy Agency (IEA), *Biomass for Power Generation and CHP*, in *Energy Technology Essentials*. 2007: Paris, France. ETE03 OECD/IEA 2007.
- 46. United States Department of Agriculture (USDA), *Table 5--Corn supply, disappearance and share of total corn used for ethanol.* 2015, United States Department of Agriculture National Agriculture Statistic Service Washington, DC.
- 47. Naik, S., et al., *Production of first and second generation biofuels: a comprehensive review.* Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews, 2010.
  14(2): p. 578-597.
- 48. Edwards, D., *Scaling Up Bioenergy Technologies.* Chem. Eng. Prog., 2015.
  111(3): p. 58-61.
- 49. Richard, T.L., *Challenges in scaling up biofuels infrastructure.* Science(Washington), 2010. **329**(5993): p. 793-796.
- 50. Union of Concerned Scientist, *Turning Agricultural Residues and Manure into Bioenergy*. 2014: Cambridge, MA. p. 6.
- 51. Jeschke, M. and A. Heggenstaller, *Sustainable Corn Stover Harvest for Biofuel Production*. 2012: Crop Insights. p. 1-6.
- 52. Wiebold, W. Mitigation of Stover Effects on Yield in Continuous Corn Planted without Tillage. in Pioneer Crop Management Research Awards Update. 2011.

- 53. Wilhelm, W.W., et al., *Corn Stover to Sustain Soil Organic Carbon Further Constrains Biomass Supply.* Agronomy Journal, 2007. **99**(6): p. 1665-1667.
- 54. Johnson, W.H. and B.J. Lamp, *Principles, equipment and systems for corn harvesting.* 1966.
- 55. Shinners, K., et al., *Comparison of wet and dry corn stover harvest and storage.* Biomass and Bioenergy, 2007. **31**(4): p. 211-221.
- 56. Roth, G., *Corn Stover for Biofuel Production*. 2015, Penn State Department of Crop and Soil Sciences: University Park, State College, PA.
- 57. Edwards, W., *Economics of Harvesting and Transporting Corn Stover*. 2014, Iowa State University Extension and Outreach: Ames, IA.
- 58. Capareda, S., *Introduction to biomass energy conversions*. 2013: CRC Press.
- 59. NPCS Board of Consultants and Engineers, *The Complete Book on Biomass Based Products (Biochemicals, Biofuels, Activated Carbon)*. 2015: National Institute of Industrial Research (NIIR). 355.
- 60. Overend, R., *Direct combustion of biomass.* Sphilrain EE, Renewable Energy Sources Charged With Energy From The Sun And Originated From Earth-Moon Interaction, 2004. **1**.
- 61. Koppejan, J. and S. Van Loo, *The handbook of biomass combustion and co-firing*. 2012: Routledge.
- 62. Biomass Energy Centre. *Effect of moisture content in biomass material*. 2011 [cited 2016 February 24]; Available from: http://www.biomassenergycentre.org.uk/.
- 63. Loo, S.v., et al., *Biomass Combustion and Co-firing*. 2001, International Energy Agency (IEA): Paris, France.
- 64. HM Associates Inc., Princeton Energy Resources Internatinal LLC., and TFB Consulting, Assessment of the Commercial Potential for Small Gasification Combined Cycle and Fuel Cell Systems, Phase II Final Draft Report. 2003. p. 22.
- 65. Biomass Energy Centre. *Gasification*. 2011 [cited 2016 February 24]; Available from: http://www.biomassenergycentre.org.uk/.
- 66. McKendry, P., *Energy production from biomass (part 2): conversion technologies.* Bioresource Technology, 2002. **83**(1): p. 47-54.
- 67. Green, A.E.S.a.J.F., *Systematics of corn stover pyrolysis yields and comparisons of analytical and kinetic representations.* Journal of Analytical and Applied Pyrolysis, 2006. **76**(1-2): p. 60-69.
- 68. Bridgwater, A., P.C., M. Coulson, *A Comparison of Fast and Slow Pyrolysis Liquids from Mallee,.* Int. J. Global Energy Issues, 2007. **27**(2): p. 204-216.
- 69. Wang, H., J. Male, and Y. Wang, *Recent advances in hydrotreating of pyrolysis bio-oil and its oxygen-containing model compounds.* ACS Catalysis, 2013. **3**(5): p. 1047-1070.
- 70. Basu, P., *Biomass Gasification, Pyrolysis and Torrefaction: Practical Design*. 3rd ed. 2013, Burlington, MA: Elsevier. 87-145.
- 71. Yan, W., et al., *Mass and Energy Balances of Wet Torrefaction of Lignocellulosic Biomass.* Energy & Fuels, 2010. **24**(9): p. 4738-4742.
- 72. Basu, P., "Torrefaction", in Biomass Gasification and Pyrolysis: Practical Design. 2nd ed. 2010, London: Academic Press.

- 73. Bates, R.B. and A.F. Ghoniem, *Biomass torrefaction: Modeling of volatile and solid product evolution kinetics.* Bioresource Technology, 2012. **124**: p. 460-469.
- 74. Gerometta, C.M., *Assessment of Corn Stover Torrefaction for On-farm Biochar Production.* 2014: Mechanical Engineering Department, South Dakota State University.
- 75. Marias, F. and C. Casajus, *Torrefaction of Corn Stover in a Macrothermobalance: Influence of Operating Conditions.* Waste and Biomass Valorization, 2014. **5**(2): p. 157-164.
- Prins, M.J., K.J. Ptasinski, and F.J.J.G. Janssen, *Torrefaction of wood: Part 2. Analysis of products.* Journal of Analytical and Applied Pyrolysis, 2006. 77(1): p. 35-40.
- Prins, M.J., K.J. Ptasinski, and F.J.J.G. Janssen, *Torrefaction of wood: Part 1. Weight loss kinetics.* Journal of Analytical and Applied Pyrolysis, 2006. 77(1):
   p. 28-34.
- 78. Arias, B., et al., *Influence of torrefaction on the grindability and reactivity of woody biomass.* Fuel Processing Technology, 2008. **89**(2): p. 169-175.
- 79. Chen, W.-H. and P.-C. Kuo, *A study on torrefaction of various biomass materials and its impact on lignocellulosic structure simulated by a thermogravimetry.* Energy, 2010. **35**(6): p. 2580-2586.
- 80. Rousset, P., et al., *Enhancing the combustible properties of bamboo by torrefaction*. Bioresource Technology, 2011. **102**(17): p. 8225-8231.
- 81. Sadaka, S. and S. Negi, *Improvements of biomass physical and thermochemical characteristics via torrefaction process.* Environmental Progress & Sustainable Energy, 2009. **28**(3): p. 427-434.
- 82. Prins, M.M., *Thermodynamic analysis of biomass gasification and torrefaction*. 2005, Technische Universiteit Eindhoven: Eindhoven.
- 83. Zwart, R.W., H. Boerrigter, and A. van der Drift, *The impact of biomass* pretreatment on the feasibility of overseas biomass conversion to Fischer-Tropsch products. Energy & Fuels, 2006. **20**(5): p. 2192-2197.
- 84. Tumuluru, J.S., et al. *A review on biomass torrefaction process and product properties.* in *Symposium on Thermochemical Conversion August.* 2011.
- 85. Basu, P., *Biomass Gasification, Pyrolysis, and Torrefaction: Practical Design and Theory.* 2nd ed. 2013, London: Academic Press.
- 86. Stelt, v.d.M., *Chemistry and reaction kinetics of biowaste torrefaction*. 2011, Technische Universiteit Eindhoven.
- 87. Yang, H., et al., *Characteristics of hemicellulose, cellulose and lignin pyrolysis.* Fuel, 2007. **86**(12–13): p. 1781-1788.
- 88. Royal DSM. *First commercial-scale cellulosic ethanol plant in the U.S. opens for business*. Royal DSM 2014 [cited 2015 Feb 2]; Available from: http://www.dsm.com/corporate/media/informationcenternews/2014/09/29-14-first-commercial-scale-cellulosic-ethanol-plant-inthe-united-states-open-for-business.html.
- 89. Fletcher, K., *POET-DSM, DuPont, Abengoa begin commissioning cellulosic plants*, in *Ethanol Producer Magazine*. 2014: Availible from:

http://ethanolproducer.com/articles/11153/poet-dsm-dupont-abengoabegin-commissioning-cellulosic-plants.

- 90. Edwards, W., *Estimating a Value for Corn Stover*. 2014, Iowa State University Extension and Outreach: Ames, IA.
- 91. Plain, R., *Annual Cattle Inventory Summary*. 2014, University of Missouri: Columbia MO.
- 92. National Agricultural Statistics Service (NASS). *Corn For Grain 2013 Production by County for Selected States [Chart]*. 2013 [cited 2015 Jan 23]; Available from:

http://www.nass.usda.gov/Charts\_and\_Maps/Crops\_County/index.asp#cr.

- 93. Wang, D. and X.S. Sun, *Low density particleboard from wheat straw and corn pith.* Industrial Crops and Products, 2002. **15**(1): p. 43-50.
- 94. Dowling, A. and J.A. Mathias, *Experimental determination of the insulating ability of corn by-products.* Journal of Sustainable Agriculture, 2007. **30**(2): p. 15-27.
- 95. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA), *Burn Wise Program of the U.S. EPA. Pellet Stove Fact Sheet.* 2011, Environmental Protection Agency.
- 96. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA), *Biomass Combined Heat and Power Catalog of Technologies.* U.S. Environmental Protection Agency Combined Heat and Power Partnership, 2007. **1**(1).
- 97. National Agricultural Statistics Service (NASS). 2014 Data and Statistics *Quick Stats Lite [Chart]*. 2014 [cited 2015 Jan 23]; Available from: http://www.nass.usda.gov/Quick\_Stats/Lite/.
- 98. Nielsen, R.L., *Questions Relative to Harvesting & Storing Corn*
- Stover, in Purdue University Agronomy Extension. 1995, Purdue University: West Lafayette, IN.
- 99. Brechbill, S. and W.E. Tyner, *The Economics of Renewable Energy: Corn Stover and Switchgrass*. 2008, Department of Agricultural Economics, Purdue University: West Lafayette, IN.
- 100. Edwards, W., A. Hohanns, and A. Chamra, *2013 Iowa Farm Custom Rate Survey*. 2013, Iowa State University Agricultural Extension: Ames, IA.
- 101. Brar, J.S., et al., *Co-Gasification of Coal and Hardwood Pellets: A Case Study.* American Journal of Biomass and Bioenergy, 2013. **2**(1): p. 25-40.
- 102. Newcomer, A. and J. Apt, *Storing syngas lowers the carbon price for profitable coal gasification.* Environmental science & technology, 2007. **41**(23): p. 7974-7979.
- 103. Cocco, D., F. Serra, and V. Tola, *Assessment of energy and economic benefits arising from syngas storage in IGCC power plants.* Energy, 2013. **58**: p. 635-643.
- 104. National Energy Technology Laboratory (NETL). *Coal Gasification Syngas Composition for IGCC*. n.d. [cited 2016 April 26]; Available from: http://www.netl.doe.gov/research/coal/energysystems/gasification/gasifipedia/syngas-composition-igcc.
- 105. B. Boundy, S.W.D., L. Wright, S.C. Davis, *Biomass Energy Data Book (4th ed.)*. 2011, Oak Ridge National Laboratory, TN.

- 106. Biomass Energy Centre. *Typical calorific values of fuels*. 2011 [cited 2016 February 29]; Available from: http://www.biomassenergycentre.org.uk/.
- 107. Energy Sector Planning and Analysis (ESPA), et al., *Quality Guidelines for Energy System Studies - Detailed Coal Specifications*. 2012: Pittsburgh, PA.
- 108. Department of Energy (DOE). *Wood and Pellet Heating*. 2015 [cited 2015 March 27]; Available from: http://energy.gov/energysaver/wood-and-pellet-heating.
- 109. Energy Information Administration (EIA), *Annual Coal Report 2014*. 2016, U.S. Department of Energy: Washington, DC. p. 60.
- 110. Energy Information Administration (EIA). *Weekly U.S. Propane Residential Price*. Petrolium & Other Liquids 2016 [cited 2016 March, 20]; Available from: http://www.eia.gov/dnav/pet/hist/.
- 111. Energy Information Administration (EIA). *Average Price of Electricity to Ultimate Customer by End-Use Sector - by State, January 2016 and 2015.* Electric Power Monthly 2016 [cited 2016 March, 20]; Available from: https://www.eia.gov/electricity/monthly.
- 112. Basin Electric Power Cooperative (BEPC), *2015 3rd Quarter Report*. 2015, Dakota Gasification Company Great Plains Synfuels: Bismarck, ND.